
City Council  
Gary Hansen, Mayor 

Evan Hutson, Vice Mayor 
Rick Thomas, Council Member 

David Vodden, Council Member 
Forrest Sprague, Council Member 

 
City Manager  
Marti Brown 

 
City Clerk  

Amos Hoover 
 

 

Willows City Council 
Regular Meeting 
 

September 10, 2024 
Willows City Hall 
6:00 PM 

201 North Lassen Street 
Willows, CA 95988 

(530) 934-7041 

Agenda 
 
 

 
Watch the Council meeting online via Zoom (Passcode 95988): 
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/85373900550?pwd=r6TTJ8bikaSyMWT45UPJbplyYx7xZk.1  

Remote viewing of the City Council meeting for members of the public is provided for convenience only. In the 
event that the remote viewing connection malfunctions for any reason, the City Council reserves the right to 
conduct the meeting without remote viewing. 

1. CALL TO ORDER 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

3. ROLL CALL 

4. CHANGES TO THE AGENDA 

5. CEREMONIAL MATTERS 

a. Proclamation – Patriot Day 

b. Proclamation – National POW/MIA Recognition Day 

c. Proclamation – Library Card Sign-up Month 

6. PRESENTATION 

a. Behavioral Health Services at Glenn Medical Center 
Recommended Action:  Receive presentation on the new behavioral health outpatient clinic at 
Glenn Medical Center. 
Presenter: Lauren Still, Assistant Administrator, Glenn Medical Center 
Contact: Amos Hoover, City Clerk, ahoover@cityofwillows.org  

7. PUBLIC COMMENT & CONSENT CALENDAR FORUM 
All matters on the Consent Calendar are considered routine and are approved by one motion and vote, unless 
Councilmembers or the City Manager first requests that a matter be removed for separate discussion and 
action. Individuals wishing to address the City Council concerning Consent Calendar items or regarding matters 
that are not already on the agenda are invited to make oral comments of up to three minutes at this time.  
Please address your comments to the Mayor and Councilmembers, and not to staff and/or the audience. By 
State law, the Council is not permitted to undertake any action or discussion on any item not appearing on the 
posted agenda. If you have any documentation that you would like distributed to the City Council, please mail it 
to the City Clerk at 201 North Lassen Street, Willows, CA 95988 or email it to: ahoover@cityofwillows.org. 

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/85373900550?pwd=r6TTJ8bikaSyMWT45UPJbplyYx7xZk.1
mailto:ahoover@cityofwillows.org
mailto:ahoover@cityofwillows.org


  
 2 

 

a. Register Approval 
 Recommended Action: Approve general checking, payroll, and direct deposit check registers. 
 Contact: Amos Hoover, City Clerk, ahoover@cityofwillows.org  

b. Minutes Approval 
Recommended Action: Approve the August 27, 2024, meeting minutes. 
Contact: Amos Hoover, City Clerk, ahoover@cityofwillows.org 

8. DISCUSSION & ACTION CALENDAR 
All matters in this section of the agenda are discussed and will be acted on individually. Individuals wishing to      
address the City Council concerning any of these items are invited to make oral comments of up to three 
minutes at this time. Please address your comments to the Mayor and Councilmembers, and not to staff and/or 
the audience. When the Mayor calls for public comment, please raise your hand to be acknowledged. While not 
required, the City requests that you please state your name clearly for the audio recording. By State law, the 
Council is not permitted to undertake any action or discussion on any item not appearing on the posted agenda. 
If you have any documentation that you would like distributed to the City Council, please mail it to the City Clerk 
at 201 North Lassen Street, Willows, CA 95988 or email it to: ahoover@cityofwillows.org. 

a. CAL FIRE Rural Fire Capacity Grant 
Recommended Action: Adopt a resolution authorizing the City Manager, or her designee, 
to execute and accept $19,570 of grant funding through CAL FIRE’s Rural Fire Capacity 
Grant, which requires a 50% local match of $19,570 using city funds that were already 
approved as part of the FY 2024-25 Budget process.  
Contact: Nate Monck, Fire Chief, nmonck@cityofwillows.org  

b. Retail Cannabis Businesses - Zoning and Setback Requirements 
 Recommended Action: Provide direction to staff on one of the following four options to 

potentially improve the opportunity and likelihood that retail cannabis businesses may locate in 
Willows:  

1) Modify zones that retail cannabis businesses are allowed to operate with a Conditional 
Use Permit and reduce the setback distance that retail cannabis businesses may operate 
from schools to 600 feet (e.g., preschool through 12th grade);   

2) Only modify zones and leave the current setback distance as is at 1,000 feet;   
3) Reduce the setback from 1,000 feet to 600 feet (except for preschool through 12th grade) 

and leave the available zoning for retail cannabis businesses as is; or 
4) Make no changes to the zoning or setback distances already approved by the Council at 

the May 28, 2024, City Council meeting.  

Should the Council direct staff to move forward with option #1, #2 or #3, staff will return to 
Council at a later date with an action item based on the direction.  
Contact: Joe Bettencourt, Community Development & Services Director, 
jbettencourt@cityofwillows.org  

c. 2024 Community Development Block Grant Project Application 
Recommended Action: Discuss and direct staff to prepare an Over-the-Counter, first-come, first-
serve CDBG application for either a sidewalk repair or fire truck acquisition project.  

mailto:ahoover@cityofwillows.org
mailto:ahoover@cityofwillows.org
mailto:ahoover@cityofwillows.org
mailto:nmonck@cityofwillows.org
mailto:jbettencourt@cityofwillows.org


  
 3 

 

Contact: Joe Bettencourt, Community Development & Services Director, 
jbettencourt@cityofwillows.org  
 

9. COMMENTS & REPORTS 
a. Council Correspondence 
b. City Council Comments & Reports 
c. City Manager’s Report 

 

10. ADJOURNMENT 

This agenda was posted on September 5, 2024. 

 
 
 

______________________________ 
Amos Hoover, City Clerk 

  
A complete agenda packet, including staff reports and back-up information, is available for public inspection during normal work hours at City Hall 

at 201 North Lassen Street in Willows or on the City’s website at www.cityofwillows.org. In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, the 
City of Willows will make available to members of the public any special assistance necessary to participate in this meeting.  If requested, the 

agenda shall be made available in appropriate alternative formats to persons with a disability, as required by Section 202 of the Americans with 
Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sec. 12132). The public should contact the City Clerk’s office at 934-7041 to make such a request.  Notification 72 

hours prior to the meeting will enable the City to make reasonable arrangements to ensure accessibility to this meeting.                                             
The City of Willows is an Equal Opportunity Provider. 

mailto:jbettencourt@cityofwillows.org
http://www.cityofwillows.org/


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 
CEREMONIAL  

MATTERS 

4



Agenda Item #5a. 

     City of Willows 
 Proclamation 

PATRIOT DAY - A DAY TO REMEMBER 
 

  WHEREAS, the unprovoked attacks of September 11, 2001, upon America by foreign terrorists 
thrust the United States and other countries into a war that it never envisioned, militarily or diplomatically; and 

WHEREAS, the challenges facing all the civilized people of the world as they relate to 
the war on terrorism will not end until those fanatics responsible are eliminated or brought to 
justice; and 

WHEREAS, America is fully committed to ensure our freedoms remain unfettered and 
sovereign for all generations, now and forever; and 

WHEREAS, world opinion needs to remain focused upon the eradication of these 
inhuman acts perpetrated around the globe; and 

WHEREAS, one way to accomplish this is to NEVER FORGET that those innocent 
victims did not die in vain; and 

WHEREAS, America can continue to fight back by reminding the world that the deaths 
of these people will always be remembered, and they will be forever loved; and 

WHEREAS, a noble and appropriate way to accomplish this is through the annual 
celebration of their living; and 

WHEREAS, this commemoration should be held each September 11 throughout the land 
to include: 

 The promotion of global peace and goodwill; 
 The demonstration of America’s resolve and perseverance to win the war on terrorism; 
 The advancement of responsible citizenship; 
 The encouragement of patriotism and love of county; and 
 The poignant remembrance of those innocent victims who died on September 11 as   

 heroes one and all. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT PROCLAIMED that I, Gary Hansen, Mayor of the City of 
Willows, on behalf of the City Council, and the Citizens of the City of Willows, issue this 
Proclamation to memorialize those men, women, and children who lost their lives; and   

BE IT FURTHER PROCLAIMED that this Proclamation be publicized for all to see and know that  
the citizens of Willows remember with eternal respect those lives which were suddenly, without cause, 
and pointlessly taken on September 11, 2001--May They Forever Rest in Peace and Abide in our 
Memories. 

PROCLAIMED this 10th day of September 2024.  

 

__________________________________ 
Gary Hansen, Mayor 

5



Agenda Item #5b. 

City of Willows 
 Proclamation 

NATIONAL POW/MIA RECOGNITION DAY 
 

WHEREAS, in 1979, Congress passed a resolution authorizing observance of National 
POW/MIA Recognition Day; and 

WHEREAS, that national observance now takes place annually on the third Friday of 
September; this year on September 20; and 

WHEREAS, throughout American history, generations of patriots bravely served in our 
military and sacrificed much to protect our country and preserve democracy around the world; and  

WHEREAS, some of those brave men and women who answered the call to service were 
captured in conflict and imprisoned by our enemies; some never returned from the battlefield; and 

WHEREAS, today and every day, we pay tribute to the American men and women who 
have not returned to the country they so valiantly defended, and we express profound gratitude to 
those who returned after facing unimaginable hardships; we will never forget the sacrifices they 
made to keep this nation free; and 

WHEREAS, observances of National POW/MIA Recognition Day are held across the 
country on military installations, ships at sea, state capitols, veterans facilities; and 

WHEREAS, we urge the Government of the United States to continue the quest to fully 
account for every service member still classified as missing. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT PROCLAIMED that I, Gary Hansen, Mayor of the City of 
Willows, on behalf of the Willows City Council, do hereby declare September 20, 2024, as 
POW/MIA Recognition Day - never forgetting the sacrifices they made.   

 

Proclaimed this 10th day of September 2024.  

 

 ____________________________________ 
Gary Hansen, Mayor 

6



Agenda Item #5c. 

City of Willows 
 Proclamation 

LIBRARY CARD SIGN-UP MONTH 

 
  WHEREAS, libraries are essential for the education and development of children, 
offering everything from preschool Storytimes to college and career planning resources for high 
school students, nurturing literacy and a love for reading; and 

WHEREAS, libraries provide welcoming and inclusive spaces where individuals from 
all backgrounds can learn and connect, bridging cultural, ethnic, generational, and economic 
divides, and strengthening the social fabric of their communities; and 

WHEREAS, libraries are committed to creating and maintaining diverse programs and 
collections that reflect the communities they serve, ensuring equitable access for all; and 

WHEREAS, libraries assist people of all ages in navigating life's complexities, offering 
access to research, information, and government services that enhance productivity and 
fulfillment; and 

WHEREAS, libraries boost the local economy by providing critical access to technology 
and training for job-seekers, entrepreneurs, and students; and 

WHEREAS, during times of crisis, libraries and their staff play a vital role in supporting 
communities both in-person and virtually; and 

WHEREAS, the shared resources provided by libraries help households save money, 
conserve resources, and reduce waste, offering a simple way to make a positive impact; and 

WHEREAS, a library card ignites creativity and empowers individuals to explore new 
interests and pursue lifelong learning; and 

WHEREAS, libraries uphold democracy by promoting civic engagement and the free 
exchange of information and ideas for all. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT PROCLAIMED that I, Gary Hansen, Mayor of the City of 
Willows, on behalf of the City Council, and the Citizens of the City of Willows, proclaim 
September as Library Card Sign-Up Month and encourage everyone to sign up for a library card 
at the Willows Public Library today.  

PROCLAIMED this 10th day of September 2024.  

 

 

__________________________________ 
Gary Hansen, Mayor 

7



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 
PRESENTATION 

8



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 
PUBLIC COMMENT & 
CONSENT CALENDAR 

FORUM 
 

9



Agenda Item #7a. 

PERIOD 

8/29/2024      TO   8/30/2024 

Payroll  868      TO 891 

Check Register 54775      TO 54818 

APPROVAL DATE      9/10/2024 

APPROVED ___________________________________________ 

10



8/29/2024 3:52:32 PM Page 1 of 8

Payment Register
City of Willows APPKT00282 - CHECK RUN 8-29-24

-

Bank: Gen Chk - General Checking

Vendor Number
**Void**

Total Vendor Amount
0.00

Vendor Name

Payment AmountPayment DatePayment NumberPayment Type
**Void Check 54779 08/29/2024 0.00

**Void Check 54781 08/29/2024 0.00

**Void Check 54798 08/29/2024 0.00

**Void Check 54799 08/29/2024 0.00

**Void Check 54800 08/29/2024 0.00

1008
Vendor Number

A.T.& T.
Total Vendor Amount

1,167.28
Vendor Name

Payment AmountPayment DatePayment NumberPayment Type
Check 54775 08/29/2024 1,167.28

Payable Number Description Payable AmountDue DatePayable Date Discount Amount
000022169938 08/26/2024BAN - 9391061606 7-19-24 TO 8-18-24 SERVICE 79.1008/26/2024 0.00
000022169941 08/26/2024BAN - 9391061610 7-19-24 TO 8-18-24 SERVICE 260.3308/26/2024 0.00
000022169943 08/26/2024BAN - 9391061615 7-19-24 TO 8-18-24 SERVICE 158.7608/26/2024 0.00
000022169944 08/26/2024BAN - 9391061616 7-19-24 TO 8-18-24 SERVICE 290.8408/26/2024 0.00
000022169945 08/26/2024BAN - 9391061617 7-19-24 TO 8-18-24 SERVICE 31.2008/26/2024 0.00
000022169946 08/26/2024BAN - 9391061620 7-19-24 TO 8-18-24 SERVICE 225.8908/26/2024 0.00
000022169947 08/26/2024BAN - 9391061621 7-19-24 TO 8-18-24 SERVICE 29.6408/26/2024 0.00
000022169948 08/26/2024BAN - 9391061623 7-19-24 TO 8-18-24 SERVICE 61.8808/26/2024 0.00
000022169949 08/26/2024BAN - 9391061624 7-19-24 TO 8-18-24 SERVICE 29.6408/26/2024 0.00

1014
Vendor Number

ACCESS
Total Vendor Amount

359.42
Vendor Name

Payment AmountPayment DatePayment NumberPayment Type
Check 54776 08/29/2024 359.42

Payable Number Description Payable AmountDue DatePayable Date Discount Amount
11066789 08/26/2024AUGUST 2024 SHREDDING & BIN COLLECTION - CW 359.4208/26/2024 0.00

2350
Vendor Number

AMOS HOOVER
Total Vendor Amount

3,690.00
Vendor Name

Payment AmountPayment DatePayment NumberPayment Type
Check 54777 08/29/2024 3,690.00

Payable Number Description Payable AmountDue DatePayable Date Discount Amount
003 08/26/2024ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES - 7-29-24 TO 8-23-24 3,690.0008/26/2024 0.00

1172
Vendor Number

CALIFORNIA WATER SERVICE
Total Vendor Amount

5,114.58
Vendor Name

Payment AmountPayment DatePayment NumberPayment Type
Check 54778 08/29/2024 5,114.58

Payable Number Description Payable AmountDue DatePayable Date Discount Amount
1053836442-8824 08/26/2024SERVICE TO 8-7-24 107.8308/26/2024 0.00
8491677777-81324 08/27/2024SERVICE TO 8-13-24 5,006.7508/27/2024 0.00

1255
Vendor Number

COASTLAND CIVIL ENGINEERI
Total Vendor Amount

38,539.70
Vendor Name

Payment AmountPayment DatePayment NumberPayment Type
Check 54780 08/29/2024 38,539.70

Payable Number Description Payable AmountDue DatePayable Date Discount Amount
59725 08/29/2024725256 SEWER RATES FOR FY24-25 4,685.0008/29/2024 0.00
59733 08/29/202472-4949 FY22-23 PAVEMENT PROJECT CM & INSPECTION 9,505.9508/29/2024 0.00

11



Payment Register APPKT00282 - CHECK RUN 8-29-24

8/29/2024 3:52:32 PM Page 2 of 8

59748 08/29/2024724611 JACK IN THE BOX DEV - 1240 WOOD ST 60.0008/29/2024 0.00
59785 08/29/2024724962 337 N LASSEN DEVELOPMENT 481.2508/29/2024 0.00
59795 08/29/2024725024 ENCROACHMENT PERMITS 3,418.7508/29/2024 0.00
59836 08/29/2024725279 CITY ENGINEERING FY24-25 3,412.5008/29/2024 0.00
59853 08/29/2024725150 LIFT STATION REHAB PROJECT 3,605.0008/29/2024 0.00
59854 08/29/2024725155 FY23-24 ANNUAL SIDEWALK MAINT PROJECT 2,307.5008/29/2024 0.00
59855 08/29/2024725158 SYCAMORE PARK CCLGP FUND PROJECT 3,922.5008/29/2024 0.00
59891 08/29/202472-4441 20 BUILDING DEPT SERVICES FY 24-25 1,740.0008/29/2024 0.00
59922 08/29/202472-4441 470 AIRPORT RD FIRE SPRINKLER MODIFICATION 2,033.7508/29/2024 0.00
59923 08/29/202472-4441 1475 HWY 99 COMMERCIAL SIGNAGE #5153 241.2508/29/2024 0.00
59924 08/29/202472-4441 1260 BRENNAN PL SOLAR & BATTERIES #5210 357.5008/29/2024 0.00
59926 08/29/202472-4441 256 W WILLOS ST-NEW PARKING & SITE WRK 2,768.7508/29/2024 0.00

1261
Vendor Number

COMCAST CABLE
Total Vendor Amount

152.94
Vendor Name

Payment AmountPayment DatePayment NumberPayment Type
Check 54782 08/29/2024 152.94

Payable Number Description Payable AmountDue DatePayable Date Discount Amount
8155600290116196-81424 08/26/2024SERVICE 8-19-24 TO 9-18-24 - FIRE 152.9408/26/2024 0.00

1275
Vendor Number

CORBIN WILLITS SYSTEMS
Total Vendor Amount

518.96
Vendor Name

Payment AmountPayment DatePayment NumberPayment Type
Check 54783 08/29/2024 518.96

Payable Number Description Payable AmountDue DatePayable Date Discount Amount
000C408151 08/26/2024AUGUST 2024 SERVICE FINANCE 518.9608/26/2024 0.00

1277
Vendor Number

CORNING LUMBER WILLOWS
Total Vendor Amount

77.71
Vendor Name

Payment AmountPayment DatePayment NumberPayment Type
Check 54784 08/29/2024 77.71

Payable Number Description Payable AmountDue DatePayable Date Discount Amount
2408-052249 08/26/2024EDGER HANDLE - PARKS - PUBLIC WORKS 12.3208/26/2024 0.00
2408-053440 08/28/2024QUICKRETE - JENSEN PARK FIX 5.6708/28/2024 0.00
2408-053860 08/28/20242X4' & WOOD STAKES - 2030 PARK - PW 53.7608/28/2024 0.00
2408-053983 08/28/20242X4 - 2030 PARK - PW 5.9608/28/2024 0.00

2254
Vendor Number

DAVID VODDEN
Total Vendor Amount

1,826.96
Vendor Name

Payment AmountPayment DatePayment NumberPayment Type
Check 54785 08/29/2024 1,826.96

Payable Number Description Payable AmountDue DatePayable Date Discount Amount
010524DV 08/28/2024VODDEN - DIRECT DEPOSIT RETRUN 1-05-24 REISSUE 228.6208/28/2024 0.00
020224DV 08/28/2024VODDEN - DIRECT DEPOSIT RETURN 2-02-24 REISSUE 228.1208/28/2024 0.00
030124DV 08/28/2024VODDEN - DIRECT DEPOSIT RETURN 3-01-24 REISSUE 228.1208/28/2024 0.00
101323DV 08/28/2024VODDEN - DIRECT DEPOSIT RETURN 10-13-23 REISSUE 228.6208/28/2024 0.00
111023DV 08/28/2024VODDEN - DIRECT DEPOSIT RETURN 11-10-23 REISSUE 228.6208/28/2024 0.00
120823DV 08/28/2024VODDEN - DIRECT DEPOSIT RETURN 12-8-23 REISSUE 228.6208/28/2024 0.00
41224DV 08/28/2024VODDEN - DIRECT DEPOSIT RETURN 4-12-24 REISSUE 228.1208/28/2024 0.00
51024DV 08/28/2024VODDEN - DIRECT DEPOSIT RETURN - 5-10-24 REISSUE 228.1208/28/2024 0.00

1539
Vendor Number

HINDERLITER DELLAMAS & AS
Total Vendor Amount

2,172.50
Vendor Name

Payment AmountPayment DatePayment NumberPayment Type
Check 54786 08/29/2024 2,172.50

Payable Number Description Payable AmountDue DatePayable Date Discount Amount
SIN042424 08/27/2024JULY - SEPTEMBER 2024 SALES TAX & AUDIT 2,172.5008/27/2024 0.00

12



Payment Register APPKT00282 - CHECK RUN 8-29-24

8/29/2024 3:52:32 PM Page 3 of 8

1583
Vendor Number

J & J CHITTENDEN STARTER
Total Vendor Amount

1,036.30
Vendor Name

Payment AmountPayment DatePayment NumberPayment Type
Check 54787 08/29/2024 1,036.30

Payable Number Description Payable AmountDue DatePayable Date Discount Amount
12492 08/26/2024ALTERNATOR - TRUCK #4 - FIRE 1,036.3008/26/2024 0.00

2441
Vendor Number

JENNIFER BORGMAN
Total Vendor Amount

350.00
Vendor Name

Payment AmountPayment DatePayment NumberPayment Type
Check 54788 08/29/2024 350.00

Payable Number Description Payable AmountDue DatePayable Date Discount Amount
24-039 08/26/2024CITY FINANCE ED PLAN - CITY HALL CRAWL - CM 350.0008/26/2024 0.00

1623
Vendor Number

JON'S BACKFLOW
Total Vendor Amount

865.00
Vendor Name

Payment AmountPayment DatePayment NumberPayment Type
Check 54789 08/29/2024 865.00

Payable Number Description Payable AmountDue DatePayable Date Discount Amount
709 08/28/2024ANNUAL TESTING ALL BLACKFLOW DEV & REPAIRS - SEW 865.0008/28/2024 0.00

2363
Vendor Number

LACO ASSOCIATES
Total Vendor Amount

24,276.25
Vendor Name

Payment AmountPayment DatePayment NumberPayment Type
Check 54790 08/29/2024 24,276.25

Payable Number Description Payable AmountDue DatePayable Date Discount Amount
53258 08/26/2024JUNE 2024 PLANNING SERVICES 9,420.0008/26/2024 0.00
53325 08/26/2024JULY 2024 PLANNING SERVICES 14,856.2508/26/2024 0.00

1760
Vendor Number

MATSON & ISOM TECHNOLOGY
Total Vendor Amount

28.90
Vendor Name

Payment AmountPayment DatePayment NumberPayment Type
Check 54791 08/29/2024 28.90

Payable Number Description Payable AmountDue DatePayable Date Discount Amount
0026383-IN 08/26/2024MICROSOFT 365 BUSINESS PREM - CW 28.9008/26/2024 0.00

1770
Vendor Number

MENDES SUPPLY COMPANY
Total Vendor Amount

245.11
Vendor Name

Payment AmountPayment DatePayment NumberPayment Type
Check 54792 08/29/2024 245.11

Payable Number Description Payable AmountDue DatePayable Date Discount Amount
R073690 08/26/2024JANITORIAL SUPPLIES - PARKS - PUBLIC WORKS 245.1108/26/2024 0.00

1778
Vendor Number

MIDAMERICA ADMIN & RETIRE
Total Vendor Amount

183.00
Vendor Name

Payment AmountPayment DatePayment NumberPayment Type
Check 54793 08/29/2024 183.00

Payable Number Description Payable AmountDue DatePayable Date Discount Amount
0267658 08/28/20242Q 24 ADMIN/PLATFORM FEE (ER) - CW 183.0008/28/2024 0.00

1810
Vendor Number

MUNICIPAL EMERGENCY SERVI
Total Vendor Amount

1,379.81
Vendor Name

Payment AmountPayment DatePayment NumberPayment Type
Check 54794 08/29/2024 1,379.81

Payable Number Description Payable AmountDue DatePayable Date Discount Amount
IN2051537 08/26/2024MATEX HOSE - FIRE 1,379.8108/26/2024 0.00

13



Payment Register APPKT00282 - CHECK RUN 8-29-24

8/29/2024 3:52:32 PM Page 4 of 8

2312
Vendor Number

NAPA AUTO PARTS
Total Vendor Amount

52.09
Vendor Name

Payment AmountPayment DatePayment NumberPayment Type
Check 54795 08/29/2024 52.09

Payable Number Description Payable AmountDue DatePayable Date Discount Amount
690378 08/26/2024AIR FILTERS - FIRE 52.0908/26/2024 0.00

1143
Vendor Number

PEDRO BOBADILLA
Total Vendor Amount

576.92
Vendor Name

Payment AmountPayment DatePayment NumberPayment Type
Check 54796 08/29/2024 576.92

Payable Number Description Payable AmountDue DatePayable Date Discount Amount
83024PB 08/26/2024RECREATION SERVICES 8-17-24 TO 8-30-24 576.9208/26/2024 0.00

1917
Vendor Number

PG & E
Total Vendor Amount

17,630.40
Vendor Name

Payment AmountPayment DatePayment NumberPayment Type
Check 54797 08/29/2024 17,630.40

Payable Number Description Payable AmountDue DatePayable Date Discount Amount
0939281537-0-81424 08/27/2024SERVICE TO 8-14-24 17,630.4008/27/2024 0.00

2390
Vendor Number

QUENCH USA, INC
Total Vendor Amount

63.28
Vendor Name

Payment AmountPayment DatePayment NumberPayment Type
Check 54801 08/29/2024 63.28

Payable Number Description Payable AmountDue DatePayable Date Discount Amount
INV07845577 08/26/2024SEPTEMBER 2024 WATER SERVICE - CIVIC CENTER 63.2808/26/2024 0.00

1978
Vendor Number

REGIONAL GOVERNMENT SERVI
Total Vendor Amount

588.75
Vendor Name

Payment AmountPayment DatePayment NumberPayment Type
Check 54802 08/29/2024 588.75

Payable Number Description Payable AmountDue DatePayable Date Discount Amount
17283 08/26/2024JULY - HR - PAYROLL ASSISTANCE/ TAX TRAINING 588.7508/26/2024 0.00

2041
Vendor Number

SACRAMENTO VALLEY MIRROR
Total Vendor Amount

167.40
Vendor Name

Payment AmountPayment DatePayment NumberPayment Type
Check 54803 08/29/2024 167.40

Payable Number Description Payable AmountDue DatePayable Date Discount Amount
2360 08/26/2024FILE #UP-22-04A C@FT &  FILE #CUP-24-05 MAS - PLAN 112.2008/26/2024 0.00
2380 08/27/2024FILE #UP-24-02 FT - PLANNING 55.2008/27/2024 0.00

2044
Vendor Number

SAFETY TIRE SERVICE
Total Vendor Amount

1,213.54
Vendor Name

Payment AmountPayment DatePayment NumberPayment Type
Check 54804 08/29/2024 1,213.54

Payable Number Description Payable AmountDue DatePayable Date Discount Amount
61985 08/26/2024TIRES -2019 HENDRICKSON - ENGINE # 3 - FIRE 1,213.5408/26/2024 0.00

2094
Vendor Number

SONGBIRD LANDSCAPE SUPPLY
Total Vendor Amount

236.49
Vendor Name

Payment AmountPayment DatePayment NumberPayment Type
Check 54805 08/29/2024 236.49

Payable Number Description Payable AmountDue DatePayable Date Discount Amount
1829 08/28/2024CONCRETE - PARKS - PW 236.4908/28/2024 0.00

14



Payment Register APPKT00282 - CHECK RUN 8-29-24

8/29/2024 3:52:32 PM Page 5 of 8

2103
Vendor Number

STANDARD INSURANCE CO.
Total Vendor Amount

1,167.18
Vendor Name

Payment AmountPayment DatePayment NumberPayment Type
Check 54806 08/29/2024 1,167.18

Payable Number Description Payable AmountDue DatePayable Date Discount Amount
006005140001-9124 08/28/2024LIFE INSURANCE EMPLOYEE  9-1-24 TO 8-31-25 1,167.1808/28/2024 0.00

2132
Vendor Number

SUN LIFE FINANCIAL
Total Vendor Amount

1,076.49
Vendor Name

Payment AmountPayment DatePayment NumberPayment Type
Check 54807 08/29/2024 1,076.49

Payable Number Description Payable AmountDue DatePayable Date Discount Amount
5487105-0001-82324 08/26/2024AUGUST 2024 INSURANCE - GAP 1,076.4908/26/2024 0.00

1567
Vendor Number

THE INKWELL
Total Vendor Amount

300.30
Vendor Name

Payment AmountPayment DatePayment NumberPayment Type
Check 54808 08/29/2024 300.30

Payable Number Description Payable AmountDue DatePayable Date Discount Amount
4403C 08/15/2024ENVELOPES PAID NOT CHARGED - GE -24.1308/15/2024 0.00
4449 08/26/2024PRINTING - OPERATING BUDGET BOOKS - CW 324.4308/26/2024 0.00

2447
Vendor Number

TOP NOTCH COMMERCIAL CLEANING
Total Vendor Amount

4,262.50
Vendor Name

Payment AmountPayment DatePayment NumberPayment Type
Check 54809 08/29/2024 4,262.50

Payable Number Description Payable AmountDue DatePayable Date Discount Amount
10305 08/26/2024JANITORIAL SERVICE 7-24 THURSDAYS & DEEP CLEAN-CC 2,887.5008/26/2024 0.00
10349 08/26/2024JANIRORIAL SERVICE AUGUST 2024 THURSDAYS CIVIC CE 1,375.0008/26/2024 0.00

2207
Vendor Number

TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC
Total Vendor Amount

2,192.00
Vendor Name

Payment AmountPayment DatePayment NumberPayment Type
Check 54810 08/29/2024 2,192.00

Payable Number Description Payable AmountDue DatePayable Date Discount Amount
025-476465 08/27/2024TYLER UNIVERSITY - 10-1-24 TO 9-30-25 1,612.0008/27/2024 0.00
045-480483 08/26/2024ERP PRO - PARKS & REC SVCS IMPLEMENTATION - REC 580.0008/26/2024 0.00

2433
Vendor Number

VESTIS
Total Vendor Amount

317.02
Vendor Name

Payment AmountPayment DatePayment NumberPayment Type
Check 54811 08/29/2024 317.02

Payable Number Description Payable AmountDue DatePayable Date Discount Amount
5066656677 08/27/2024UNIFORM SERVICE - PUBLIC WORKS 158.5108/27/2024 0.00
5066661944 08/28/2024UNIFORM SERVICE - PUBLIC WORKS 158.5108/28/2024 0.00

2260
Vendor Number

WAL-MART COMMUNITY - CREDIT CARD
Total Vendor Amount

199.47
Vendor Name

Payment AmountPayment DatePayment NumberPayment Type
Check 54812 08/29/2024 199.47

Payable Number Description Payable AmountDue DatePayable Date Discount Amount
1657463891-81924-01 08/27/2024OFFICE SUPLIES - PUBLIC WORKS 75.7908/27/2024 0.00
1657463891-81924-02 08/27/2024SUPPLIES - CITY FINANCE EDUCATION PLAN - CM 21.4108/27/2024 0.00
1657463891-81924-03 08/27/2024SUPPLIES-CITY FINANCE ED PLAN-NATIONAL NIGHT OUT 8.5608/27/2024 0.00
1657463891-81924-04 08/27/2024SUPPLIES - PUBLIC WORKS 14.9308/27/2024 0.00
1657463891-81924-05 08/27/2024SUPPLIES - CITY FINANCE EDUCATION PLAN - CM 78.7808/27/2024 0.00

15



Payment Register APPKT00282 - CHECK RUN 8-29-24

8/29/2024 3:52:32 PM Page 6 of 8

2295
Vendor Number

WILLOWS ACE HARDWARE
Total Vendor Amount

15.46
Vendor Name

Payment AmountPayment DatePayment NumberPayment Type
Check 54813 08/29/2024 15.46

Payable Number Description Payable AmountDue DatePayable Date Discount Amount
113913 08/26/2024FASTENERS - JENSEN POWER - PARKS - PW 0.3608/26/2024 0.00
114046 08/28/2024CONCRETE - JENSEN PARK FIX - PW 15.1008/28/2024 0.00

2282
Vendor Number

WILLOWS HARDWARE, INC.
Total Vendor Amount

117.94
Vendor Name

Payment AmountPayment DatePayment NumberPayment Type
Check 54814 08/29/2024 117.94

Payable Number Description Payable AmountDue DatePayable Date Discount Amount
327087 08/28/2024ROPE & LOCK - FLAG POLE- JENSEN FLAG POLE - PW 62.1908/28/2024 0.00
330299 08/26/2024GFCI RECEPTACLE - JENSEN POWER - PARKS - PW 55.7508/26/2024 0.00

2311
Vendor Number

WILLOWS VOLUNTEER FIRE
Total Vendor Amount

30,000.00
Vendor Name

Payment AmountPayment DatePayment NumberPayment Type
Check 54815 08/29/2024 30,000.00

Payable Number Description Payable AmountDue DatePayable Date Discount Amount
24-11 08/26/2024PRESCRIBED FIRE OPS - FUELS REDUCTION GRANT 30,000.0008/26/2024 0.00

16



8/29/2024 3:52:22 PM Page 1 of 3

Payment Register
City of Willows APPKT00284 - CHECK RUN 8-29-24 2

01 - Vendor Set 01

Bank: Gen Chk - General Checking

2396
Vendor Number

US BANK TFM
Total Vendor Amount

359,821.16
Vendor Name

Payment AmountPayment DatePayment NumberPayment Type
Check 54816 08/29/2024 359,821.16

Payable Number Description Payable AmountDue DatePayable Date Discount Amount
2657567 08/29/20242021 SEWER SYSTEM FINANCING PROJECT 359,821.1608/29/2024 0.00

17



8/30/2024 10:19:28 AM Page 1 of 3

Payment Register
City of Willows APPKT00287 - PAYROLL PAYABLES 08/12/24 to 08/25/24

01 - Vendor Set 01

Bank: Gen Chk - General Checking

1194
Vendor Number

CALIFORNIA STATE DISBURSE
Total Vendor Amount

162.92
Vendor Name

Payment AmountPayment DatePayment NumberPayment Type
Check 54817 08/30/2024 162.92

Payable Number Description Payable AmountDue DatePayable Date Discount Amount
INV0000795 08/30/2024CHILD SUPPORT 162.9208/30/2024 0.00

2223
Vendor Number

UNITED PUBLIC EMPLOYEES A
Total Vendor Amount

256.41
Vendor Name

Payment AmountPayment DatePayment NumberPayment Type
Check 54818 08/30/2024 256.41

Payable Number Description Payable AmountDue DatePayable Date Discount Amount
INV0000796 08/31/2024PUBLIC SAFETY DUES 256.4108/30/2024 0.00

18



Page 3 of 48/28/2024 2:13:57 PM

Payroll Check Register
City of Willows Employee Pay Summary

Pay Period:  8/12/2024-8/25/2024

Packet: PYPKT00276 - PAY PERIOD 08/12/24 to 08/25/24 PAY DATE 08/30/24
Payroll Set: Payroll Set 01 - 01

Employee Employee # Payment Date EarningsNumber
ABOLD, STEVEN B 1,930.11ABO00 88408/30/2024
ARELLANES, ASHLEY MARIE 1,363.34ARE00 87308/30/2024
BETTENCOURT, JOSEPH 4,690.62BET01 88908/30/2024
BRIONES, BRENDA VALENZU 488.00BRI00 87408/30/2024
BROWN, MARTHA 5,576.92BRO01 86808/30/2024
CHAPMAN, LOREN 996.96CHA02 87908/30/2024
EHORN, CAITLIN A 1,428.01EHO02 87508/30/2024
ENOS, KYLE 2,310.24ENO00 88008/30/2024
FUENTES, JAIME 2,074.24FUE01 88108/30/2024
GAMBOA, YADIRA 352.00GAM00 87608/30/2024
HAZLETT, ROBIN 1,948.62HAZ01 86908/30/2024
LOMBARD, TYLER JOSEPH 2,816.06LOM00 88208/30/2024
MINGS, MICHAEL E 2,177.74MIN00 88508/30/2024
MONCK, NATHANIAL T 6,007.80MON00 89008/30/2024
MOORE, JOANNE 4,643.20MOO01 87008/30/2024
PETERICH, JOHN 687.18PET01 88308/30/2024
PFYL, NATISA N 2,933.82PFY00 89108/30/2024
RANDOLPH, MATTHEW 1,717.60RAN01 88608/30/2024
REED, JOSHUA 1,717.60REE00 88708/30/2024
RUSTENHOVEN, TARA L 2,184.92RUS01 87108/30/2024
SPENCE, KYLIEGH C 480.00SPE02 87708/30/2024
VARGAS, GIOVANI 592.00VAR00 87808/30/2024
VASQUEZ, PEDRO CEASAR 2,355.27VAS01 88808/30/2024
VASQUEZ, KARISSA 27.00VAS02 87208/30/2024

51,499.25Totals:

19



City Council 
Gary Hansen, Mayor 

Evan Hutson, Vice Mayor 
Rick Thomas, Council Member 

David Vodden, Council Member 
Forrest Sprague, Council Member 

City Manager 
Marti Brown 

City Clerk 
Amos Hoover 

Willows City Council 
Regular Meeting 
Action Minutes 
August 27, 2024 
Willows City Hall 
6:00 PM 

201 North Lassen Street 
Willows, CA 95988 

(530) 934-7041

1. CALL TO ORDER – 6:02 PM

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

3. ROLL CALL
Councilmembers Present: Mayor Hansen, and Councilmembers Thomas and Vodden
Councilmembers Absent: Councilmembers Sprague and Hutson

4. CHANGES TO THE AGENDA

5. PRESENTATION

a. Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACE)
Action: Received presentation on Adverse Childhood Experiences study results from Dr. Jared
Garrison.

6. PUBLIC COMMENT & CONSENT CALENDAR FORUM

a. Register Approval
Action: Approved general checking, payroll, and direct deposit check registers.

b. Minutes Approval
Action: Approved the August 13, 2024, meeting minutes.

Moved/Seconded: Councilmembers Thomas and Vodden
Yes:  Councilmembers Thomas and Vodden, and Mayor Hansen
No:  None
Absent: Councilmember Sprague and Vice Mayor Hutson

7. DISCUSSION AND ACTION CALENDAR

a. Potential Projects Using Parks and Recreation Development Impact Fees
Action: Directed staff to proceed with further planning and discussion on the proposed
projects.

Agenda Item #7b. 

20



  
 2 

 

b. 2024 Community Development Block Grant Application – Potential Projects   
Action: Directed staff to prepare a resolution to submit a CDBG Grant application for street, 
sidewalks, and signage projects. 

8. COMMENTS & REPORTS 
a. Council Correspondence 
b. City Council Comments & Reports 
c. City Manager’s Report 

10. ADJOURNMENT - 8:04PM 
 
 
 

______________________________ 
Amos Hoover, City Clerk  

21



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 
DISCUSSION & ACTION 

CALENDAR 

22



Agenda Item #8a. 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

Date: September 10, 2024 

To: Honorable Mayor and Councilmembers 

From: Nathan Monck, Fire Chief 
Marti Brown, City Manager 

Subject:  CAL FIRE Rural Fire Capacity Grant 

Recommendation: 

Adopt a resolution authorizing the City Manager, or her designee, to execute and accept $19,570 of 
grant funding through CAL FIRE’s Rural Fire Capacity Grant, which requires a 50% local match of 
$19,570 using city funds that were already approved as part of the FY 2024-25 Budget process.  

Rationale for Recommendation: 

The City of Willows Fire Department needs to replace some of its handheld radios that were not able 
to be replaced with other funding sources. The Department is also in need of new wildland personal 
protective equipment. This grant would assist the Department with maintaining and replacing 
equipment as planned and needed.   

Background: 

The Rural Fire Capacity (RFC) Grant is a federally funded grant program that allows California to 
provide rural fire departments with firefighter training, communications, and safety equipment for 
their volunteer firefighters. The RFC program has a 50/50 match requirement. Awards are set for a 
minimum of $500 and a maximum of $20,000. Radio communications and infrastructure are listed as a 
primary goal of the RFC grant program. The City of Willows and surrounding rural community is a 
perfect fit for the RFC Grant. Applicants must serve a population of less than 10,000 people and be in a 
rural setting. Grant awards are determined at the local CAL FIRE Unit level. As part of the grant 
acceptance process, CAL FIRE requires a resolution accepting the funds after the award date. 

Discussion & Analysis: 

If accepted and approved, grant funds will be used to purchase new handheld radios and accessories. It 
is anticipated that the department will be able to purchase six (6) handheld radios, rechargeable 
batteries, radio antennas, charging stations, and lapel microphones. These new radios will be 
programed and placed on City of Willows Fire Apparatus.  

The new radio communications equipment will bring reliable communications to our firefighters, 
furthering our emergency response bandwidth. Reliable communications are an integral part of the 

23



 

City of Willows Fire Departments core mission: To protect life, property, and environment. Grant funds 
will also purchase four (4) sets of wildland personal protective equipment and one (1) mobile radio. 

With these grant funds and past successful grant applications, the Fire Department is becoming a 
proactive organization, able to plan for the future avoiding crisis management situations, especially 
when it comes to failing equipment. 

If the resolution (Attachment 1) is approved, staff will submit the required paperwork (Attachment 1, 
Exhibit A) to CAL FIRE in order to accept the grant. 

Consistency with Council Priorities and Goals: 

Staff recommendation helps achieve the following Council identified priorities: 

 Priority #1: Financial Stability,
 Priority #3: Public Safety, and
 Priority #6: Quality of Life.

Fiscal Impact: 

Should Council approve Resolution XX-2024, the fiscal impact to the City of Willows will be $19,570 
affording the City of Willows to purchase needed equipment at a 50% discount. This is a reimbursable 
grant, and $39,140 of expenditures must be made on grant related activities to receive the 
reimbursement. As staff anticipated this grant award and its matching funds, the $19,570 local match 
was already built into the Council approved 2024-2025 budget.  

Attachment: 

 Attachment 1: Resolution XX-2024

24



City of Willows  
Resolution XX-2024 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER, OR HER DESIGNEE, TO 
ACCEPT A RURAL FIRE CAPACITY GRANT FROM CAL FIRE IN THE AMOUNT OF $19,570 WITH 

MATCHING FUNDS IN THE AMOUNT OF $19,570 FOR A TOTAL OF $39,140 AND TO EXECUTE ALL 
CONTRACT DOCUMENTS RELATED TO ACCEPTING THE GRANT. 

WHEREAS, the City recognizes the importance of owning and maintaining reliable Personal Protective 
Equipment; and  

WHEREAS, community and firefighter health and safety is of paramount responsibility of the City of 
Willows and the Willows Fire Department; and  

WHEREAS, the Willows Fire Department seeks grant funding from the Rural Fire Capacity Grant in an 
effort to ensure public health and safety; and 

WHEREAS, the Rural Fire Capacity Grant Program objectives are to provide critically needed resources 
that equip and train firefighters serving rural communities.  

NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of the City of Willows does hereby authorize 
the City Manager, or her designee, to execute all agreements between the City and CAL Fire for the 
purpose of obtaining Rural Fire Capacity grant funding and committing up to $19,570 of City matching 
funds from the General Fund. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the City Council of the City of Willows this 10th day of September 2024, by 
the following vote: 

AYES:  
NOES: 
ABSENT: 
ABSTAIN: 

APPROVED: ATTESTED: 

_________________________ __________________________ 
Gary Hansen, Mayor  Amos Hoover, City Clerk 

Attachment: 
• Exhibit A: CAL FIRE Resolution Certification

Attachment 1 

25



EXHIBIT A 

BEFORE THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF WILLOWS 

COUNTY OF GLENN, STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

IN THE MATTER OF: 

Resolution Number:2024-XX 

Approving the Department of Forestry and Fire Protection Agreement #7GF24021 for services from the date of last 
signatory on page 1 of the Agreement to June 30, 2025 under the Volunteer Fire Capacity Program of the 
Cooperative Forestry Assistance Act of 1978. 

BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Willows, 

that said Council does hereby approve the Agreement with the California Department of Forestry and Fire 
Protection dated as of the last signatory date on page 1 of the Agreement, and any amendments thereto. This 
Agreement provides for an award, during the term of this Agreement, under the Volunteer Fire Capacity Program of 
the Cooperative Fire Assistance Act of 1978 during the State Fiscal Year 2024-25 up to and no more than the 
amount of $19,570. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Marti Brown, City Manager, or her designee, of said Council 

be and hereby is authorized to sign and execute said Agreement and any amendments on behalf of the City of 
Willows. 

The foregoing resolution was duly passed and adopted by the City Council of the City of Willows, at a regular 
meeting thereof, held on the 10th day of September 2024, 

by the following vote: 

AYES: _________________________ 

NAYS: Signature City Council Member 

ABSENT: 

_________________________ 

Signature City Council Member 

26



----CERTIFICATION OF RESOLUTION------ 

ATTEST: 

I Amos Hover, Clerk of the City of Willows 

County of Glenn California do hereby certify that this is a true and correct copy of the original Resolution Number 

2024-xx. 

WITNESS MY HAND OR THE SEAL OF THE CITY OF WILLOWS, on 

This 10th day of September 2024. 

__________________________ 

Signature 

Amos Hoover, Clerk, City of Willows 

27



Agenda Item #8b. 

_____________________________________________________________________ 

Date: September 10, 2024 

To: Honorable Mayor and Councilmembers 

From: Joe Bettencourt, Community Development & Services Director 
Marti Brown, City Manager 

Subject: Retail Cannabis Businesses - Zoning and Setback Requirements 

Recommendation: 

Provide direction to staff on one of the following four options to potentially improve the opportunity and 
likelihood that retail cannabis businesses may locate in Willows:  

1) Modify zones that retail cannabis businesses are allowed to operate with a Conditional Use
Permit and reduce the setback distance that retail cannabis businesses may operate from schools
to 600 feet (e.g., preschool through 12th grade);

2) Only modify zones and leave the current setback distance as is at 1,000 feet;
3) Reduce the setback from 1,000 feet to 600 feet (except for preschool through 12th grade) and

leave the available zoning for retail cannabis businesses as is; or
4) Make no changes to the zoning or setback distances already approved by the Council at the May

28, 2024, City Council meeting.

Should the Council direct staff to move forward with option #1, #2 or #3, staff will return to Council at a 
later date with an action item based on the direction.  

Rationale for Recommendation: 

At the May 28, 2024, City Council meeting, the Council directed staff to seek the Planning Commission’s 
recommendation regarding potential changes to the zoning for retail cannabis businesses and return to 
the Council with those recommendations. At the July 17, 2024, meeting the Planning Commission took 
no action to modify the zoning for retail cannabis business operations and, instead, preferred that the 
zoning remain as Council approved. As directed by Council, staff is bringing the issue back for further 
Council consideration. Please note, the setback distance from schools is also returning to Council for 
consideration, because existing zoning that contains developed land is almost exclusively located within 
1,000 feet of schools (Attachment 1) and the Planning Commission made no recommendation to 
increase the zoning for retail cannabis businesses.  

28



Background: 

On November 28, 2017, the Willows City Council adopted a Cannabis Ordinance #736-2017 
(Attachment 2) to facilitate the approval, regulation, and operation of cannabis businesses. This 
ordinance, as chaptered in the WMC along with State laws (Attachment 3) and regulations imposes 
strict zoning, security, and operational requirements on cannabis dispensaries. Thereafter, the Willows 
City Council adopted Resolution #32-2017 (Attachment 4) which established 1,000-foot setbacks from 
churches, schools, licensed daycare or preschool facilities, playgrounds and/or parks for retail cannabis 
dispensaries and directed the Planning Commission to review zoning to determine where retail 
cannabis businesses could operate. In July of 2018 Ordinances #738- 2018 and #739-2018 
(Attachments 5 & 6) were passed by the City Council and amended the Willows Municipal Code to 
allow retail cannabis dispensaries in Highway Commercial, and combined zones (General Commercial/
Light Industrial/Planned Development and General Commercial/Planned Development) with a 
Conditional Use Permit. 

The City of Willows Municipal Code (WMC) Section 9.20.070 allows for the commercial sale of 
Cannabis and Cannabis products for medical and non-medical uses, subject to the conditions set forth 
in this code, and only in zones in which such sales are permitted uses pursuant to WMC Title 18.  

At the February 14, 2023, City Council meeting, a public hearing was held, and a Resolution was passed 
approving a business license for Sundial Collective. Since approval, Sundial Collective has never moved 
forward with construction of the project in South Willows and the permit is now expired. Prior to 
Sundial Collective, Element 7 was another approved dispensary application whose permit also expired 
before the project was ever even started. In both instances, the applicants would have preferred to 
occupy existing buildings (because it’s more affordable), but they could not find any buildings in the 
city limits that satisfied the City’s distance and/or zoning requirements. As a result, they resolved to 
construct new buildings; however, they both allowed their permits to expire, and staff were unable to 
contact them – they “disappeared.”  

At the May 28, 2024, City Council meeting, a Resolution #19-2024 (Attachment 7) was adopted to 
remove all setback requirements from churches, licensed daycares, playgrounds, and parks but retained 
a 1,000-foot setback requirement from schools (e.g., preschool through 12th grade). Council also directed 
staff to present zoning modification options to the Planning Commission for consideration and to return 
to the Council with any Commission recommendations to modify the zoning for retail cannabis 
businesses.  

At the July 17, 2024, Planning Commission meeting staff presented this information and requested 
direction whether to modify the zoning in which a retail cannabis business may operate with a 
Conditional Use Permit (CUP). The Planning Commission elected to take no action to modify the zoning 
in which retail cannabis businesses may operate. 

Discussion & Analysis: 

There is very limited developed land (e.g., suitable structure for a retail cannabis business) in the 
Highway Commercial and Mixed-Use zones and a 1,000-foot setback requirement from schools, further 
reduces the inventory of opportunity sites for retail cannabis businesses. By reducing the setback limit 
to 600 feet from schools (Attachment 8), which is consistence with the California Health and Safety 

29



Code (Attachment 9), the City could allow retail cannabis businesses to operate in the Highway 
Commercial Zone to the west of Humboldt Avenue and to the north and south of Wood Street. 

General Commercial, Central Commercial and Light Industrial are also potential zones for a retail 
cannabis business, as these zones are either included within the combined zones and/or allow for 
general retail sales. Allowing additional zoning creates an opportunity for retail cannabis business 
owners to access developed land, which is a major investment incentive. It is also an opportunity to 
direct traffic from I-5 into the city’s downtown business corridor. This has the potential to positively 
affect surrounding businesses by increasing foot traffic to the area.  

For further reference, the General Commercial, Central Commercial and Light Industrial Uses that are 
currently permitted with a Conditional Use Permit are listed below.  

General Commercial- 

The following uses and structures are allowed in General Commercial zoning if a conditional use permit 
has first been secured: 

(1) All uses permitted in any residential zones.
(2) Boardinghouses, group dwellings, and churches.
(3) Bars and cocktail lounges.
(4) Adult businesses.
(5) Major automobile and equipment repair service stations.
(6) Automobile and equipment sales and service including used car lots.
(7) Wholesale distribution uses and warehouses.
(8) Hotels, motels, hospitals, sanitariums, and rest homes.
(9) Other commercial uses in the opinion of the planning commission which are of similar nature to
those uses listed above.
(10) Emergency shelters, 50 beds or more, subject to development and managerial standards per WMC
18.110.111.
(11) Cannabis retail/dispensary business in combined CG/ML/PD or CG/PD zones subject to
development standards and WMC 9.20.070 to 9.20.080 and defined in WMC 8.10.010.

Central Commercial- 

The following uses and structures are currently allowed in Central Commercial zoning if a conditional 
use permit has first been secured: 

(1) Pet shops and veterinary offices.
(2) Mortuaries and funeral parlors.
(3) Bars and cocktail lounges.
(4) Private and public parking lots.
(5) Private schools and business colleges.
(6) Public schools and colleges.
(7) Martial arts and exercise studios.
(8) Health clubs.
(9) Outside sales and transient or mobile business operations.
(10) New and used automobile sales, automotive rental establishments and automotive repair;
provided, that these uses are located on properties fronting on Tehama Street.

30



(11) Mini-markets without gasoline sales.
(12) Hotels, motels, and similar lodging facilities.
(13) Bed and breakfast establishments.
(14) Churches.
(15) Civic clubs.
(16) Reserved.
(17) Accessory uses, including repair operations and services.
(18) Other uses which, in the opinion of the planning commission, are similar to those uses listed.
(19) Uses and structures with drive-through windows.

Light Industrial-

The following uses and structures are allowed in Light Industrial zoning if a conditional use permit has 
first been secured: 

Retail stores and business or service enterprises which, in the opinion of the Planning Commission, are 
similar to those included in WMC 18.60.030 General Commercial District.  

Consistency with Council Priorities and Goals: 

Consideration of these potential zoning and/or setback changes are consistent with the Council’s 
Priority #1: Financial Stability, and Priority #2: Economic Development. 

Fiscal Impact: 

While it is uncertain exactly how much revenue might be generated by modifying the zoning and/or 
reducing setback requirements for retail cannabis businesses, two retail business licenses in the city 
limits would certainly increase sales tax revenue and encourage placing a local cannabis business tax 
on a future ballot.  

Attachments: 

 Attachment 1: 1,000-foot Setback Map from Schools
 Attachment 2: Ordinance #736-2017
 Attachment 3: State Cannabis Regulations
 Attachment 4: Resolution #32-2017
 Attachment 5: Ordinance #738- 2018
 Attachment 6: Ordinance #739-2018
 Attachment 7: Resolution #19-2024
 Attachment 8: 600-foot Setback Map from Schools
 Attachment 9: California Health and Safety Code 600-Foot Requirement from Schools

31



Note: 
The information illustrated in this map 
was derived from publicly-available 
GIS data. LACO Associates cannot 
guarantee the accuracy of the data.

0 2,2501,125 Feet

VILLA AVENUE HEAD START

Schools
School1_Buffer1_Dissolve
500 Foot Setback

REUSE OF DOCUMENTS: This document and the ideas and design incorporated herein, as an instrument of professional service, is the property of  LACO Associates and shall not be reused in whole or part for any other project 
without LACO Associates express written authorization.

City of Willows Ordinance Review
City of Willows
City of Willows, CA
1,000 Foot Setbacks From Schools

MCH
BET

6/06/2024
1

10560.00

FIGURE

JOB NO.

BY

CHECK

DATE

PROJECT 

CLIENT 

LOCATION

WILLOWS INTERMEDIATE

WALDEN ACADEMY

MURDOCK ELEMENTARY

WILLOWS HIGH

JOYFUL NOISE
PRESCHOOL

WILLOWS COMMUNITY HIGH

BLESSED BEGINNINGS
CHRISTIAN PRESCHOOL

GLENN COUNTY ROP
GLENN COUNTY SPECIAL EDUCATION

Attachment 1 

32



ORDINANCE NO. 736-2017 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
WILLOWS REPEALING WILLOWS MUNICIPAL CODE CHAPTER 

9.20 ("MEDICAL MARIJUANA"), ADOPTING NEW CHAPTER 
9.20 ("CANNABIS"), REPEALING CHAPTER 8.10.010 

("DEFINITIONS"), ADOPTING NEW CHAPTER 8.10.010, AND 
AMENDING CHAPTER 8.10 ("NUISANCE") TO REGULATE 

CANNABIS USE, CULTIVATION, SALES AND OTHER 
CANNABIS ACTIVITIES IN THE CITY OF WILLOWS. 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Willows intends to and hereby 
does establish regulations pertaining to the personal cultivation of cannabis, 
regulations pertaining to the commercial sales of cannabis and cannabis 
products, and prohibiting all other cannabis-related activities within the City of 
Willows; and 

WHEREAS, the Federal Controlled Substances Act (21 U.S.C. Section 
841 et seq.) makes it unlawful to manufacture, distribute, dispense or possess 
cannabis, and, accordingly, medical and nonmedical cannabis dispensaries are 
illegal under Federal law; and 

WHEREAS, in 2013, Deputy U.S. Attorney General James Cole issued a 
memorandum to all Federal prosecutors to provide guidance on the enforcement 
of the Federal Controlled Substances Act as it related to cannabis, indicating that 
enforcement would not be a priority in states and local jurisdictions that have 
laws authorizing cannabis-related conduct and that have implemented strong and 
effective regulatory and enforcement systems that will address the threat those 
state laws could pose to public safety, public health, and other law enforcement 
interests; and that have provided the necessary resources to demonstrate the 
willingness to enforce their laws and regulations; and 

WHEREAS, in 2015, Congress began to defund enforcement of the 
Federal Controlled Substances Act in states where such enforcement activities 
would prevent states from implementing their own state laws that authorize the 
use, distribution, possession or cultivation of medical cannabis; and 

WHEREAS, the voters of the State of California approved Proposition 215 
(codified as Health and Safety Code Section 11362.5 et seq., "The 
Compassionate Use the Act of 1996"); the intent of Proposition 215 was to 
enable persons who are in need of cannabis for medical purposes to obtain and 
use it without fear of State criminal prosecution; and 

WHEREAS, on October 9, 2015, Governor Brown approved a series of 
bills commonly referred to as the Medical Cannabis Regulation and Safety Act 
("MCRSA"), effective on January 1, 2016, which establishes a comprehensive 
State licensing and regulatory framework for the cultivation, manufacture, 
transportation, storage, distribution, and sale of medical cannabis, also known as 
marijuana; and which recognized the authority of local jurisdictions to either 
impose additional restrictions or prohibit certain activities related to the 
cultivation, manufacture, transportation, storage, distribution, delivery, and sale of 
medical cannabis; and 

WHEREAS, on November 8, 2016 the voters of the State of California 
approved Proposition 64, known as the "Control, Regulate and Tax Adult Use of 

Attachment 2 

33



34



35



36



37



38



39



40



41



42



43



44



45



46



47



48



49



50



51



52



53



54



55



56



57



58



59



60



61



62



63



64



65



66



67



68



69



70



71



Department of Cannabis Control 
Medicinal and Adult-Use Commercial Cannabis Regulations (March 2024) Page 102 of 229 

(f) Holding a distributor transport only license shall not authorize a licensee to:

(1) Engage in the delivery of cannabis or cannabis products as defined in Business and
Professions Code section 26001(o);

(2) Engage in the wholesale, destruction, packaging, labeling, or storing of cannabis or
cannabis products; or

(3) Arrange for the regulatory compliance testing of cannabis or cannabis products by a
testing laboratory.

(g) A distributor transport only licensee who is licensed to engage in self-distribution and
whose licensed premises will be on the same property as their licensed cultivation or
licensed manufacturing premises shall comply with the security provisions contained in
chapter 1, article 5 that are applicable to their licensed cultivation or licensed
manufacturing premises.

Authority: Section 26013, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Sections 26012 
and 26070, Business and Professions Code. 

Chapter 3. Retailers 
§15400. Access to Retailer Premises.
(a) Access to the licensed premises of a retailer with only an A-designation shall be
limited to individuals who are at least 21 years of age.

(b) Access to the licensed premises of a retailer with only an M-designation shall be
limited to individuals who are at least 18 years of age and have a valid physician's
recommendation for medicinal cannabis, and individuals who are at least 21 years of
age.

(c) Access to the licensed premises of a retailer with both an A- designation and an M- 
designation may include persons identified in subsections (a) and (b) of this section.

Authority: Section 26013, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Sections 26070 
and 26140, Business and Professions Code. 

§15402. Customer Access to the Retail Area.
(a) Individuals shall be granted access to the retail area to purchase cannabis goods only
after the retailer or an employee of the retailer has confirmed the individual’s age and
identity pursuant to section 15404.

(b) The licensed retailer or at least one employee shall be physically present in the retail
area at all times when individuals who are not employees of the licensed retailer are in
the retail area.

(c) All sales of cannabis goods must take place within the retail area of the retailer’s
licensed premises, except for cannabis goods sold through delivery, a drive-in or drive-
through window as authorized by section 15025(e), or curbside delivery as provided in
subsection (d).

Attachment 3 

72



Department of Cannabis Control 
Medicinal and Adult-Use Commercial Cannabis Regulations (March 2024) Page 103 of 229 

(d) A licensed retailer or licensed microbusiness authorized to engage in storefront sales
at their licensed premises may conduct sales through curbside delivery. Cannabis goods
that have been purchased by a customer may be delivered to the customer in a vehicle
parked immediately outside the licensed retail premises. Curbside delivery of cannabis
goods must occur under video surveillance and meet the requirements of section 15044,
subsection (e) for recording point-of-sale areas. Retail employees engaging in curbside
delivery must verify each customer’s age pursuant to subsection (a). Licensed retailers
who are only authorized to engage in retail sales through delivery shall not conduct sales
through curbside delivery.

Authority: Section 26013, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Sections 26070 
and 26140, Business and Professions Code. 

§15403. Hours of Operation.
A licensed retailer shall sell and deliver cannabis goods only between the hours of 6:00
a.m. Pacific Time and 10:00 p.m. Pacific Time.

Authority: Section 26013, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Section 26070, 
Business and Professions Code. 

§15403.1. Requirements While Not Open for Business.
At any time the licensed premises is not open for retail sales, a licensed retailer shall 
ensure that: 

(a) The licensed premises is securely locked with commercial-grade, nonresidential door
locks as required in section 15046 of this division;

(b) The licensed premises is equipped with an active alarm system pursuant to section
15047 of this division, which shall be activated when the licensed retailer or its
employees are not on the licensed premises; and

(c) Only employees of the licensee and other authorized individuals are allowed access
to the licensed premises. For the purposes of this section, authorized individuals include
individuals employed by the licensee as well as any outside vendors, contractors, or
other individuals conducting business that requires access to the licensed premises.

Authority: Section 26013, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Section 26070, 
Business and Professions Code. 

§15404. Retail Customers.
(a) A licensed retailer shall only sell adult-use cannabis goods to individuals who are at
least 21 years of age after confirming the customer's age and identity by inspecting a
valid form of identification provided by the customer as required by subsection (c) of this
section.

(b) A licensed retailer shall only sell medicinal cannabis goods to individuals who are at
least 18 years of age and possesses a valid physician's recommendation after confirming

73



Department of Cannabis Control 
Medicinal and Adult-Use Commercial Cannabis Regulations (March 2024) Page 104 of 229 

the customer's age, identity, and physician's recommendation as required by subsection 
(c) of this section.

(c) Acceptable forms of identification include the following:

(1) A document issued by a federal, state, county, or municipal government, or a political
subdivision or agency thereof, including, but not limited to, a valid motor vehicle
operator's license, that contains the name, date of birth, height, gender, and photo of the
person;

(2) A valid identification card issued to a member of the Armed Forces that includes the
person's name, date of birth, and photo; or

(3) A valid passport issued by the United States or by a foreign government.

Authority: Section 26013, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Section 26140, 
Business and Professions Code. 

§15405. Cannabis Goods Display.
(a) Cannabis goods for inspection and sale shall only be displayed in the retail area.

(b) Cannabis and cannabis products may be removed from their packaging and placed in
containers to allow for customer inspection. The containers shall not be readily
accessible to customers without assistance of retailer personnel. A container must be
provided to the customer by the licensed retailer or its employees, who shall remain with
the customer at all times that the container is being inspected by the customer.

(c) Cannabis and cannabis products removed from their packaging for display shall not
be sold or consumed when the cannabis and cannabis products are no longer used for
display.

Authority: Section 26013, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Section 26070, 
Business and Professions Code. 

§15406. Cannabis Goods for Sale.
A licensed retailer shall not make any cannabis goods available for sale or delivery to a 
customer unless: 

(a) The cannabis goods were received by the licensed retailer from a licensed distributor
or licensed microbusiness authorized to engage in distribution;

(b) The licensed retailer has verified that the cannabis goods have not exceeded their
best-by, sell-by, or expiration date if one is provided;

(c) In the case of manufactured cannabis products, the product complies with all
requirements of Business and Professions Code section 26130;

(d) The cannabis goods have undergone regulatory compliance testing as required by
the Act and chapter 6;

74



Department of Cannabis Control 
Medicinal and Adult-Use Commercial Cannabis Regulations (March 2024) Page 105 of 229 

(e) The batch number, if any, is labeled on the package of cannabis goods and matches
the batch number on the corresponding certificate of analysis for regulatory compliance
testing;

(f) The packaging and labeling of the cannabis goods complies with Business and
Professions Code section 26120 and this division; and

(g) The cannabis goods comply with all applicable requirements found in the Act and this
division.

Authority: Section 26013, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Sections 26070 
and 26120, Business and Professions Code. 

§15407. Sale of Non-Cannabis Goods.
(a) In addition to cannabis goods, a licensed retailer may sell only cannabis accessories
and the branded merchandise of any licensee. Licensed retailers may provide customers
with promotional materials.

(b) Notwithstanding subsection (a), a licensed retailer or licensed microbusiness
authorized for retail sales who operates a consumption area on the licensed premises in
accordance with Business and Professions Code section 26200(g) may also sell
prepackaged, non-cannabis-infused, non-alcoholic food and beverages if the applicable
local jurisdiction allows such sales.

(c) Nothing in this section shall be interpreted to prevent consumers from bringing or
receiving non-cannabis-infused, non-alcoholic food and beverages from a restaurant or
food delivery service for consumption in the designated consumption area on the
licensed premises, if the applicable local jurisdiction allows such activities.

Authority: Section 26013, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Sections 26070, 
26151 and 26152, Business and Professions Code. 

§15408. Sale of Live Plants and Seeds.
(a) A licensed retailer shall only sell live, immature cannabis plants and cannabis seeds if
all of the following requirements are met:

(1) The plant is not flowering and is shorter and narrower than 18 inches; and

(2) The plant or seed originated from a licensed nursery that holds a valid license from
the Department or a licensed microbusiness authorized to engage in cultivation.

(b) A licensed retailer shall not apply or use any pesticide, on live plants. A licensed
retailer shall not cause any pesticide to be applied or used on live plants.

Authority cited: Section 26013, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Sections 
26070 and 26100, Business and Professions Code. 

75



Department of Cannabis Control 
Medicinal and Adult-Use Commercial Cannabis Regulations (March 2024) Page 106 of 229 

§15409. Daily Limits.
(a) A licensed retailer shall not sell more than the following amounts to a single adult-use
cannabis customer in a single day:

(1) 28.5 grams of non-concentrated cannabis.

(2) 8 grams of cannabis concentrate as defined in Business and Professions Code
section 26001, including cannabis concentrate contained in cannabis products.

(3) 6 immature cannabis plants.

(b) A licensed retailer shall not sell more than the following amounts to a single medicinal
cannabis patient, or to a patient's primary caregiver purchasing medicinal cannabis on
behalf of the patient, in a single day:

(1) 8 ounces of medicinal cannabis in the form of dried mature flowers or the plant
conversion as provided in Health and Safety Code section 11362.77.

(2) 12 immature cannabis plants.

(c) Notwithstanding subsection (b) of this section, if a medicinal cannabis patient's valid
physician's recommendation contains a different amount than the limits listed in this
section, the medicinal cannabis patient may purchase an amount of medicinal cannabis
consistent with the patient's needs as recommended by a physician and documented in
the physician's recommendation.

(d) The limits provided in subsection (a) and subsection (b) of this section shall not be
combined to allow a customer to purchase cannabis goods in excess of any of the limits
provided in this section.

(e) For the purposes of this section, a licensed retailer shall be responsible for
determining that the amount of cannabis concentrates found in manufactured cannabis
products sold to customers comply with the requirements of this section.

Authority: Section 26013, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Section 26012, 
Business and Professions Code; and Sections 11362.1 and 11362.77, Health and Safety 
Code. 

§15410. Customer Return of Cannabis Goods.
(a) For the purposes of this section, “customer return” means a customer's return of
cannabis goods that were purchased from a licensed retailer, back to the licensed retailer
from whom the cannabis goods were purchased.

(b) A licensed retailer may accept customer returns of cannabis goods that were
previously sold to a customer.

(c) A licensed retailer shall not resell cannabis goods that have been returned.

(d) A licensed retailer shall treat any cannabis goods abandoned on the licensed retailer
premises as a customer return.

76



Department of Cannabis Control 
Medicinal and Adult-Use Commercial Cannabis Regulations (March 2024) Page 107 of 229 

(e) Defective manufactured cannabis products returned by customers to a licensed
retailer may be destroyed or returned to the licensed distributor from whom the cannabis
goods were obtained.

Authority cited: Section 26013, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Sections 
26011.5, 26012 and 26070, Business and Professions Code. 

§15411. Requirements for Providing Free Cannabis Goods to Medicinal
Consumers.
(a) A licensed retailer shall not provide free cannabis goods to any person. A licensed
retailer shall not allow individuals who are not employed by the licensed retailer to
provide free cannabis goods to any person on the licensed premises.

(b) Notwithstanding subsection (a), in order to provide access to medicinal cannabis
patients who have difficulty accessing medicinal cannabis goods, a licensee who holds
an M-Retailer license, an M-Retailer Non-storefront license, or an M-Microbusiness
license that is authorized for retail sales may provide free medicinal cannabis goods if the
following criteria are met:

(1) Free cannabis goods are provided only to a medicinal cannabis patient or primary
caregiver who possesses a valid physician’s recommendation for medicinal cannabis or
cannabis products or a valid identification card issued under Health and Safety Code
section 11362.71.

(A) Before providing free cannabis goods to a medicinal cannabis patient who does not
possess a valid identification card issued under Health and Safety code section 11362.7,
the licensed retailer shall do the following:

(i) Verify with the Medical Board of California, the Osteopathic Medical Board of
California, or the California Board of Podiatric Medicine that the attending physician
providing the patient’s medicinal cannabis recommendation has a license in good
standing to practice medicine or osteopathy in the State of California;

(ii) Keep a copy of the patient’s or primary caregiver’s driver’s license or other
government-issued identification; and

(iii) Prepare and retain written certification that the licensed retailer verified the
physician’s recommendation as required by this section that includes the date and time
of the verification, the name of the employee who conducted the verification, the name of
the licensing board(s) contacted, the method by which the licensing board was
contacted, and the name of the person at the licensing board who provided the
verification if it was conducted orally, or a copy of the verification if it was provided in
writing.

(B) After initially verifying a physician’s recommendation for a specific medicinal cannabis
patient as required by this section, a licensed retailer shall also verify the physician’s
recommendation at least annually, for the time period that the physician’s
recommendation is valid.

77



Department of Cannabis Control 
Medicinal and Adult-Use Commercial Cannabis Regulations (March 2024) Page 108 of 229 

(C) A licensee shall not provide free cannabis goods to a medicinal cannabis patient or
the patient’s primary caregiver if the physician’s recommendation has expired.

(2) Prior to being provided to the patient or the patient’s primary caregiver, the cannabis
goods have been properly designated for donation and recorded in the track and trace
system.

(3) Except as provided under Revenue and Taxation Code section 34012.1, the donated
cannabis goods shall comply with all statutory and regulatory requirements that apply to
cannabis goods for sale, including those for cultivating, manufacturing, distributing,
processing, storing, regulatory compliance testing, packaging, labeling, transporting, and
delivering.

(4) The cannabis goods provided to a medicinal cannabis patient or the patient’s primary
caregiver pursuant to this section shall be applied toward the daily purchase limit for a
medicinal cannabis customer contained in section 15409 and the possession limits
contained in Health and Safety Code section 11362.77.

(5) If cannabis goods are donated by a licensed retailer, then the sales invoice or receipt
for the cannabis goods shall indicate that the cannabis goods were donated.

(6) The provision of free cannabis goods shall be recorded in the track and trace system
and the licensed retailer’s inventory records. The inventory records shall also include
either the number of the medicinal cannabis patient’s identification card issued under
Health and Safety Code section 11362.7 or a copy of a valid physician’s
recommendation and the written certification that the recommendation was verified as
required by this section.

(c) In addition to the provision of free cannabis goods in subsection (b), a licensed
retailer may donate cannabis goods and the use of equipment in compliance with any
compassionate use, equity, or other similar program administered by a local jurisdiction.
The licensee shall ensure that all cannabis goods provided pursuant to this subsection
comply with subsections (b)(4), (b)(5), and (b)(6).

(d) A licensed retailer may contract with an individual or organization to coordinate the
provision of free cannabis goods on the licensee’s retail premises. All cannabis goods
provided through an individual or organization pursuant to this subsection shall comply
with the requirements of this section. The licensed retailer may be disciplined for
violations of the Act that are committed by an individual or organization with whom the
licensee has contracted.

(e) A licensed retailer authorized to engage in retail sales only through delivery shall
provide free cannabis goods only by delivery. Free cannabis goods provided through
delivery shall comply with the requirements of this section.

Authority: Section 26013, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Sections 26013, 
26153 and 26160, Business and Professions Code. 

78



Department of Cannabis Control 
Medicinal and Adult-Use Commercial Cannabis Regulations (March 2024) Page 109 of 229 

§15412. Prohibition on Packaging and Labeling by a Retailer.
(a) A licensed retailer shall not accept, possess, or sell cannabis goods that are not
packaged as they will be sold at final sale, in compliance with this division.

(b) A licensed retailer shall not package or label cannabis goods.

(c) Notwithstanding subsection (b) of this section, a licensed retailer may place a barcode
or similar sticker on the packaging of cannabis goods to be used in inventory tracking. A
barcode or similar sticker placed on the packaging of a cannabis goods shall not obscure
any labels required by the Act or this division.

Authority: Section 26013, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Section 26120, 
Business and Professions Code. 

§15413. Cannabis Goods Packaging and Exit Packaging.
(a) All cannabis goods sold by a licensed retailer shall be in compliance with the
packaging requirements in chapter 11.

(b) A package containing cannabis goods shall be tamper-evident and child-resistant. If
the package contains multiple servings, the package must also be resealable.

(c) All cannabis goods purchased by a customer shall not leave the licensed retailer’s
premises unless the goods are placed in an opaque exit package.

(d) Immature plants and seeds sold by a licensed retailer are not required to be placed in
resealable, tamper-evident, child-resistant packaging.

Authority: Section 26013, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Sections 26070.1 
and 26120, Business and Professions Code. 

§15414. Non-Storefront Retailer.
(a) A non-storefront retailer licensee shall be authorized to conduct retail sales
exclusively by delivery as defined in Business and Professions Code section 26001(o).

(b) A complete application for a non-storefront retailer license shall include all the
information required in an application for a retailer license.

(c) A non-storefront retailer licensee shall comply with all the requirements applicable to

retailer licensees, except for those provisions related to public access to the licensed 
premises and the retail area. 

(d) The licensed premises of a non-storefront retailer licensee shall be closed to the
public.

Authority cited: Section 26013, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Sections 
26012 and 26070, Business and Professions Code. 

79



Department of Cannabis Control 
Medicinal and Adult-Use Commercial Cannabis Regulations (March 2024) Page 110 of 229 

§15415. Delivery Employees.
(a) All deliveries of cannabis goods shall be performed by a delivery employee who is
directly employed by a licensed retailer.

(b) Each delivery employee of a licensed retailer shall be at least 21 years of age.

(c) All deliveries of cannabis goods shall be made in person. A delivery of cannabis
goods shall not be made through the use of an unstaffed vehicle.

(d) Deliveries of cannabis goods shall be received by customers only during the hours of
operation established by section 15403. Delivery employees shall return to the licensed
premises after making their last delivery of the day if they have any unsold cannabis
goods to return to the premises.

(e) During the process of delivery, the licensed retailer’s delivery employee may not

engage in any activities except for cannabis goods delivery and necessary rest, fuel, or 
vehicle repair stops.  

(f) A delivery employee of a licensed retailer shall, during deliveries, carry a copy of the
retailer’s current license, a copy of the QR Code Certificate issued by the Department,
which complies with section 15039, subsection (d), the employee’s government-issued
identification, and an identification badge provided by the employer pursuant to section
15043. A delivery employee shall provide a copy of the retail license, a copy of the QR
Code Certificate, and their employee identification badge to a delivery customer upon
request.

(g) Prior to providing cannabis goods to a delivery customer, a delivery employee shall
confirm the identity and age of the delivery customer as required by section 15404 and
ensure that all cannabis goods sold comply with requirements of section 15413.

(h) A licensed retailer shall maintain an accurate list of the retailer’s delivery employees
and shall provide the list to the Department upon request.

Authority: Section 26013, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Sections 26070 
and 26090, Business and Professions Code. 

§15415.1. Deliveries Facilitated by Technology Platforms.
(a) A licensed retailer or licensed microbusiness shall not sell or otherwise transfer any
cannabis goods to a customer through the use of an unlicensed third party, intermediary
business, broker, or any other business or entity.

(b) Notwithstanding subsection (a) of this section, a licensed retailer or licensed
microbusiness may contract with a service that provides a technology platform to
facilitate the sale and delivery of cannabis goods, in accordance with all of the following:

(1) The licensed retailer or licensed microbusiness does not allow for delivery of
cannabis goods by the technology platform service provider.

80



Department of Cannabis Control 
Medicinal and Adult-Use Commercial Cannabis Regulations (March 2024) Page 111 of 229 

(2) The licensed retailer or licensed microbusiness does not share in the profits of the
sale of cannabis goods with the technology platform service provider, or otherwise
provide for a percentage or portion of the cannabis goods sales to the technology
platform service provider.

(3) The licensed retailer or licensed microbusiness shall not advertise or market cannabis
goods in conjunction with the technology platform service provider, outside of the
technology platform, and shall ensure that the technology platform service provider does
not use the licensed retailer's or licensed microbusiness's license number or legal
business name on any advertisement or marketing that primarily promotes the services
of the technology platform.

(4) The licensed retailer or licensed microbusiness shall ensure the following information
is provided to customers:

(A) Any cannabis goods advertised or offered for sale on or through the technology
platform shall disclose, at a minimum, the licensed retailer's or licensed microbusiness's
legal business name and license number.

(B) Customers placing an order for cannabis goods through the technology platform shall
be able to easily identify the licensed retailer or licensed microbusiness that each
cannabis good is being ordered or purchased from. This information shall be available to
the customer prior to the customer placing an order or purchasing the cannabis goods.

(5) All required sales invoices and receipts, including any receipts provided to the
customer, shall disclose, at a minimum, the licensed retailer's or licensed
microbusiness's legal business name and license number.

(6) All other delivery, marketing, and advertising requirements under this division are
complied with.

Authority: Section 26013, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Sections 26001, 
26070, 26090, 26151 and 26152, Business and Professions Code. 

§15416. Delivery to a Physical Address.
(a) A delivery employee may only deliver cannabis goods to a physical address in
California.

(b) A delivery employee shall not leave the State of California while possessing cannabis
goods.

(c) A delivery employee shall not deliver cannabis goods to an address located on
publicly owned land or any address on land or in a building leased by a public agency.
This prohibition applies to land held in trust by the United States for a tribe or an
individual tribal member unless the delivery is authorized by and consistent with
applicable tribal law.

(d) A delivery employee may deliver to any jurisdiction within the State of California
provided that such delivery is conducted in compliance with all delivery provisions of this
division.

81



Department of Cannabis Control 
Medicinal and Adult-Use Commercial Cannabis Regulations (March 2024) Page 112 of 229 

(e) A delivery employee shall not deliver cannabis goods to a school providing instruction
in kindergarten or any grades 1 through 12, day care center, or youth center.

Authority: Section 26013, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Sections 26070 
and 26090, Business and Professions Code. 

§15417. Delivery Vehicle Requirements.
(a) A licensed retailer’s delivery employee, carrying cannabis goods for delivery, shall
only travel in an enclosed motor vehicle. Any vehicle used in the delivery of cannabis
goods shall be operated by a delivery employee of the licensee. A vehicle used in the
delivery of cannabis goods shall not have any marking or other indications on the exterior
of the vehicle that may indicate that the delivery employee is carrying cannabis goods for
delivery. Only the licensee or an employee of the retailer licensee for whom delivery is
being performed shall be in the delivery vehicle.

(b) While carrying cannabis goods for delivery, a licensed retailer’s delivery employee
shall ensure the cannabis goods are not visible to the public. Cannabis goods shall be
stored in a secure, fully enclosed trunk that cannot be accessed from inside the vehicle,
or in a secured area or compartment within the interior of the vehicle. A “secured area” is
defined as an area where solid or locking metal partitions, cages, or high-strength
shatterproof acrylic can be used to create a secure compartment in the fully enclosed
vehicle. The secured area may be comprised on three sides by any part of the body of
the vehicle, provided the parts of the vehicle used for the purposes of this section are
shatterproof and are not made of glass.

(c) A licensed retailer’s delivery employee shall not leave cannabis goods in an
unattended motor vehicle unless the motor vehicle is locked and equipped with an active
vehicle alarm system. Any cannabis goods left in an unattended vehicle must be stored
in a container as required in subsection (b).

(d) A vehicle used for the delivery of cannabis goods shall be outfitted with a dedicated
Global Positioning System (GPS) device for identifying the geographic location of the
delivery vehicle and recording a history of all locations traveled to by the delivery employee
while engaged in delivery. A dedicated GPS device must be owned by the licensee and
used for delivery only. The device shall be either permanently or temporarily affixed to the
delivery vehicle and shall remain active and inside of the delivery vehicle at all times during
delivery. At all times, the licensed retailer shall be able to identify the geographic location
of all delivery vehicles that are making deliveries for the licensed retailer and document the
history of all locations traveled to by a delivery employee while engaged in delivery. A
licensed retailer shall provide this information to the Department upon request. The history
of all locations traveled to by a delivery employee while engaging in delivery shall be
maintained by the licensee for a minimum of 90 days.

(e) Upon request, a licensed retailer shall provide the Department with information
regarding any motor vehicle used for the delivery of cannabis goods, including the
vehicle’s make, model, color, Vehicle Identification Number, license plate number and
Department of Motor Vehicles registration information.

82



Department of Cannabis Control 
Medicinal and Adult-Use Commercial Cannabis Regulations (March 2024) Page 113 of 229 

(f) Any motor vehicle used by a licensed retailer to deliver cannabis goods is subject to
inspection by the Department. Vehicles used to deliver cannabis goods may be stopped
and inspected by the Department at any licensed premises or during delivery.

Authority: Section 26013, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Sections 26070 
and 26090, Business and Professions Code. 

§15418. Cannabis Goods Carried During Delivery.
(a) A licensed retailer's delivery employee shall not carry cannabis goods in the delivery
vehicle with a value in excess of $10,000 at any time.

(b) For the purposes of this section, the value of cannabis goods shall be determined
using the current retail price of all cannabis goods carried by, or within the delivery
vehicle of, the licensed retailer's delivery employee.

(c) A delivery employee may only carry cannabis goods, cannabis accessories, branded
merchandise of any licensee, or promotional materials in the delivery vehicle and may
only perform deliveries for one licensed retailer at a time. A delivery employee must
depart and return to the same licensed premises before taking possession of any
cannabis goods from another licensee to perform deliveries.

(d) Before leaving the licensed premises, the licensed retailer's delivery employee must
have a delivery inventory ledger of all cannabis goods provided to the licensed retailer's
delivery employee. The contents of the delivery inventory ledger must comply with the
requirements of section 15049.3. During the delivery trip, as defined in section 15049.3,
the delivery employee shall maintain the delivery inventory ledger in hard copy or
electronically, the latter of which may be an electronic copy maintained in the track and
trace system. The delivery inventory ledger must be updated after each completed
delivery to reflect the remaining inventory carried by the delivery employee. The delivery
inventory ledger must otherwise be updated in accordance with the requirements of
section 15049.3, and then entered into the track and trace system no later than the end
of the calendar day on which the delivery trip occurred.

(e) The licensed retailer's delivery employee shall maintain a log that includes all stops
from the time the licensed retailer's delivery employee leaves the licensed premises to
the time that the licensed retailer's delivery employee returns to the licensed premises,
and the reason for each stop. The log shall be turned in to the licensed retailer when the
licensed retailer's delivery employee returns to the licensed premises. The licensed
retailer must maintain the log as a commercial cannabis activity record as required by
this division. The log may be maintained electronically.

(f) Prior to arrival at any delivery location, the licensed retailer must have received a
delivery request from the customer and provided the delivery request receipt to the
licensed retailer's delivery employee electronically or in hard copy. The delivery request
receipt provided to the licensed retailer's delivery employee shall contain all of the
information required in section 15420, except for the date and time the delivery was
made, and the signature of the customer.

83



Department of Cannabis Control 
Medicinal and Adult-Use Commercial Cannabis Regulations (March 2024) Page 114 of 229 

(g) Immediately upon request by the Department or any law enforcement officer, the
licensed retailer's delivery employee shall provide:

(1) The delivery inventory ledger from the time the licensed retailer's delivery employee
left the licensed premises up to the time of the request;

(2) All delivery request receipts for cannabis goods carried by the delivery employee, in
the delivery vehicle, or any deliveries that have already been made to customers; and

(3) The log of all stops from the time the licensed retailer's delivery employee left the
licensed premises up to the time of the request.

(h) If a licensed retailer's delivery employee does not have any delivery requests to be
performed for a 30-minute period, the licensed retailer's delivery employee shall not
make any additional deliveries and shall return to the licensed premises. Required meal
breaks shall not count toward the 30-minute period.

(i) Upon returning to the licensed premises, all undelivered cannabis goods shall be
returned to the licensed retailer’s inventory and recorded within the track and trace
system in accordance with section 15049.3.

Authority: Section 26013, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Sections 26067, 
26068, 26070, 26090 and 26160, Business and Professions Code. 

§15419. Cannabis Consumption During Delivery.
A licensed retailer’s delivery employees shall not consume cannabis or cannabis 
products while delivering cannabis goods to customers. 

Authority: Section 26013, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Sections 26070 
and 26090, Business and Professions Code. 

§15420. Delivery Request Receipt.
A licensed retailer shall prepare a hard copy or electronic delivery request receipt for 
each delivery of cannabis goods. 

(a) The delivery request receipt shall contain the following:

(1) The legal business name and license number of the licensed retailer;

(2) The first name and employee number of the licensed retailer's delivery employee who
delivered the order;

(3) The first name and employee number of the licensed retailer's employee who
prepared the order for delivery;

(4) The first name of the customer and a licensed retailer-assigned customer number for
the person who requested the delivery;

(5) The date and time the delivery request was made;

(6) The delivery address;

84



Department of Cannabis Control 
Medicinal and Adult-Use Commercial Cannabis Regulations (March 2024) Page 115 of 229 

(7) A detailed description of all cannabis goods requested for delivery. The description
shall include the weight, volume, or any other accurate measure of the amount of all
cannabis goods requested;

(8) The total amount paid for the delivery, including any taxes or fees, the cost of the
cannabis goods, and any other charges related to the delivery; and

(9) Upon delivery, the date and time the delivery was made, and the handwritten or
electronic signature of the customer who received the delivery.

(b) At the time of the delivery, the delivery employee of the retailer shall provide the
customer who placed the order with a hard or electronic copy of the delivery request
receipt. The delivery employee shall retain a hard or electronic copy of the signed
delivery request receipt for the licensed retailer's records.

(c) For the purposes of this section, an employee number is a distinct number assigned
by a licensed retailer to an employee that would allow the licensed retailer to identify the
employee in documents or records using the employee number rather than the
employee's full name. A licensed retailer shall be able to identify the employee
associated with each employee number upon request from the Department.

(d) For the purposes of this section, a customer number is a distinct number assigned by
a licensed retailer to a customer that would allow the licensed retailer to identify the
customer in documents or records using the customer number rather than the customer's
full name. A licensed retailer shall be able to identify the customer associated with each
customer number upon request from the Department.

Authority cited: Section 26013, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Sections 
26070, 26090 and 26160, Business and Professions Code. 

§15421. Delivery Route.
While making deliveries of cannabis goods, a licensed retailer's delivery employee shall 
only travel from the retailer's licensed premises to the delivery address; from one delivery 
address to another delivery address; or from a delivery address back to the retailer's 
licensed premises. A delivery employee of a licensed retailer shall not deviate from the 
delivery path described in this section, except for necessary rest, fuel, or vehicle repair 
stops, or because road conditions make continued use of the route unsafe, impossible, 
or impracticable. 

Authority: Section 26013, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Sections 26070 
and 26090, Business and Professions Code. 

§15422. Receiving Shipments of Inventory.
(a) A licensed retailer shall receive a shipment of cannabis goods only from a licensed
distributor or licensed microbusiness authorized to engage in distribution.

(b) A licensed retailer shall accept shipments of cannabis goods only between the hours
of 6:00 a.m. Pacific Time and 10:00 p.m. Pacific Time.

85



Department of Cannabis Control 
Medicinal and Adult-Use Commercial Cannabis Regulations (March 2024) Page 116 of 229 

(c) During business hours, shipments of cannabis goods shall not enter the licensed
premises through an entrance or exit that is available for use by the public.

(d) A licensed retailer whose licensed premises only has one entryway may be exempt
from the requirements of subsection (c) of this section if the licensed retailer obtains
authorization from the local jurisdiction explicitly authorizing this activity. The licensed
retailer shall be required to provide this authorization to the Department upon request.
For this section to apply, the licensed premises must physically have only one entryway
and cannot have any other entryways.

Authority: Section 26013, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Sections 26012 
and 26070, Business and Professions Code. 

§15423. Inventory Documentation.
A licensed retailer shall maintain an accurate record of its inventory. A licensed retailer 
shall provide the Department with the record of inventory immediately upon request. A 
licensed retailer shall keep a record of the following information for all cannabis goods 
the licensed retailer has in its inventory: 

(a) A description of each item such that the cannabis goods can easily be identified;

(b) An accurate measurement of the quantity of the item;

(c) The date and time the cannabis goods were received by the licensed retailer;

(d) The sell-by or expiration date provided on the package of cannabis goods, if any;

(e) The name and license number of the licensed distributor or licensed microbusiness
that transported the cannabis goods to the licensed retailer; and

(f) The price the licensed retailer paid for the cannabis goods, including taxes, delivery
costs, and any other costs.

Authority: Section 26013, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Section 26160, 
Business and Professions Code. 

§15424. Inventory Reconciliation.
(a) A licensed retailer shall be able to account for all of its inventory.

(b) In conducting an inventory reconciliation, a licensed retailer shall verify that the
licensed retailer's physical inventory is consistent with the licensed retailer's records
pertaining to inventory.

(c) The result of inventory reconciliation shall be retained in the licensed retailer's records
and shall be made available to the Department upon request.

(d) If a licensed retailer identifies any evidence of theft, diversion, or loss, the licensed
retailer shall notify the Department and law enforcement pursuant to section 15036 of
this division.

86



Department of Cannabis Control 
Medicinal and Adult-Use Commercial Cannabis Regulations (March 2024) Page 117 of 229 

(e) If a significant discrepancy as defined in section 15034 of this division is discovered
between a licensed retailer's physical inventory and the licensed retailer's inventory
records, the licensed retailer shall notify the Department and law enforcement pursuant
to section 15036 of this division.

Authority: Section 26013, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Section 26160, 
Business and Professions Code. 

§15427. Retailer Premises-to-Retailer Premises Transfer.
(a) A licensee who holds multiple retail licenses may arrange for the transfer of cannabis
goods from one licensed retail premises to another licensed retail premises if both retail
licenses are held by the same sole proprietor or business entity.

(b) Cannabis goods transferred to a licensed retail premises under subsection (a) may be
sold by the licensed retailer receiving the cannabis goods only if the cannabis goods
comply with all requirements found in the Act and this division.

(c) The transportation of cannabis goods under this section must comply with all
requirements found within the Act and this division.

(d) Any movement of cannabis goods under this section shall be properly entered into
the track and trace system.

Authority: Section 26013, Business and Professions Code. Reference: Section 26070, 
Business and Professions Code. 

Chapter 4. Microbusiness 
§ 15500. Microbusiness.
(a) In order to hold a microbusiness license, a licensee must engage in at least three (3)
of the following commercial cannabis activities: cultivation, manufacturing, distribution,
and retail sale. License types created by the Department in regulation shall not be
considered qualifying commercial cannabis activities for purposes of obtaining a
microbusiness license, except for the Type N manufacturing license and the distributor
transport only license.

(b) An applicant for a microbusiness license shall indicate on the application for licensure
all commercial cannabis activities in which the applicant intends to engage.

(c) All cultivation, manufacturing, distribution, and retail activities performed by a licensee
under a microbusiness license shall occur on the same licensed premises.

(d) A holder of a microbusiness license engaged in cultivation shall comply with all the
rules and requirements applicable to the cultivation license type suitable for the
cultivation activities of the licensee.

(e) A holder of a microbusiness license engaged in manufacturing shall comply with all
the rules and requirements applicable to a Manufacturer 1 license in this division.

87



RESOLUTION NO. 32-2017 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF WILLOWS 

ESTABLISHING THE MAXIMUM NUMBER OF RETAIL/DISPENSARY 

CANNABIS BUSINESS LICENSES PERMITTED IN THE CITY OF WILLOWS 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Willows, pursuant to Chapter 9.20.070 has 
authorized the establishment of retail and dispensary businesses selling both medical and non­

medical cannabis within the City of Willows; and 

WHEREAS, in 1996 "The Compassionate Use Act" of 1996 was enacted by Proposition 

215 enabling persons who are in need of cannabis for medical purposes to obtain and use it 
without fear of State criminal prosecution; and 

WHEREAS, on November 8, 2016 California voters approved Proposition 64, the "Adult 
Use of Marijuana Act", which established a licensing and regulatory framework for the 

cultivation, manufacture, transportation, storage, distribution, and sale of recreational 

cannabis, and which recognized the authority of local jurisdictions to either ban or regulate 

certain activities related to the cultivation, manufacture, transportation, storage, distribution, 

delivery, and sale of recreational cannabis; and 

WHEREAS, on June 27, 2017 Governor Brown signed SB 94, a bill which among other 

things established a new statutory framework which reconciled the MCRSA and AUMA and 

regulating medical and non-medical cannabis use, possession, cultivation and commercial 

activities in the State of California (referred to as "MAUCRSA"); and 

WHEREAS, on November 28, 2017 the City Council of the City of Willows enacted "An 

Ordinance of the City Council of the City of Willows Repealing Willows Municipal Code Chapter 

9.20 ("Medical Marijuana"), Adopting New Chapter 9.20 ("Cannabis"), Repealing Chapter 

8.10.010 ("Definitions"), Adopting New Chapter 8.10.010, and Amending Chapter 8.10 

("Nuisance") to Regulate Cannabis, Use, Cultivation, Sales, and Other Cannabis Activities in the 

City of Willows" (hereafter the "Cannabis Ordinance"); and 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Willows, pursuant to Chapter 9.20.070 of the 

Cannabis Ordinance has authorized the establishment of retail and dispensary businesses 

selling both medical and non-medical cannabis within the City of Willows; and 

WHEREAS, Chapter 9.20.070 of the Cannabis Ordinance requires the City Council to 

adopt a resolution establishing the maximum number of Retail/Dispensary Cannabis Business 

licenses that may be issued within the City of Willows in order to prevent excessive 

concentrations of such businesses, and to set other special conditions that may be necessary 

and appropriate for the regulation of such businesses; and 

WHEREAS, the City Council finds and determines that the adoption of this Resolution is 

exempt from environmental review pursuant to California Environmental Quality Act Guidelines 

Attachment 4 

88



89



CITY OF WILLWOS 

ORDINANCE NO. 738-2018 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF WILLOWS AMENDING 

CHAPTER 18.60.030 CG GENERAL COMMERCIAL DISTRICT OF THE WILLOWS 

MUNICIPAL CODE OF THE CITY OF WILLOWS SPECIFICALLY TO ADD SECTION 

18.60.030(11) CANNABIS RETAIL DISPENSARY BUSINESS AS A USE WITH ALL OTHER 

TEXT TO REMAIN UNCHANGED 

THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF WILLOWS DOES ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1. The City Council does hereby amend Chapter 18.60.030 of the Willows Municipal Code, 

adding section 18.60.030(11) to the Municipal Code, City of Willows, California, is hereby amended to 

read as follows; 

Chapter 18.60 

CG GENERAL COMMERCIAL DISTRICT 

Sections: 

18.60.010 Purpose. 

18.60.020 Permitted uses. 

18.60.030 Uses permitted with a conditional use permit. 

18.60.040 Other regulations. 

The general commercial or CG district is intended to be applied in areas where commercial facilities are necessary for 

public service and convenience. [Ord. 733-17 § 1, 11-14-17; Ord. 701-11 § 1, 7-12-11; Ord. 632-91 § 16.01, 10-22-91]. 

18.60.020 Permitted uses . 
..... . ... . . . . . . ..... _. ... , . ,  ......... ........................... . , _, .. ... .. ... . ......... .... ........ . .................. .. . 

The following uses and structures are permitted in the CG district: 

(1) Uses permitted in the CC district as set forth in WMC 18.55.020.

(2) Pet shops and veterinarian offices.

(3) Mortuaries and funeral parlors.

(4) Private schools and business colleges.

Attachment 5 

90



91



92



93



CITY OF WILLOWS 
ORDINANCE NO. 739- 2018 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF WILLOWS AMENDING CHAPTER 18.65.030 
HIGHWAY COMMERCIAL DISTRICT OF THE WILLOWS MUNICIPAL CODE OF THE CITY OF WILLOWS 
SPECIFICALLY ADDING SECTION 18.65.030(3) CANNABIS RETAIL DISPENSARY BUSINESS TO THE 

CODE WITH ALL OTHER TEXT TO REMAIN UNCHANGED 

THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF WILLOWS DOES ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1. The City Council does hereby amend Chapter 18.65.030 Highway Commercial District of the 
Willows Municipal Code adding section 18.65.030(3) to the code of the Municipal Code, City of Willows, 

California, is hereby amended to read as follows: 

Sections: 

18.65.010 Purpose. 

18.65.020 Permitted uses. 

Chapter 18.65 
CH HIGHWAY COMMERCIAL DISTRICT 

18.65.030 Uses permitted with a conditional use permit. 

18.65.040 Other regulations. 

The highway commercial or CH district is intended to be applied along main roads and highway frontages in 

order to provide necessary services for the traveling public. [Ord. 632-91 § 17.01, 10-22-91]. 

18.65.020 Permitted uses . 
....... ..... .... . . . . ...... .................. . ...................... ..... , ...................... .... . . . . ...................................... ....... .... .... ............... .................... ............ ................ . . . ....... . ... . ................................. ......... .................. . 

The following uses and structures are permitted in the CH district: 

(1) Motels and hotels.

(2) Automobile service stations.

(3) Restaurants and cafes.

(4) Convenience stores.

(5) Office space. [Ord. 632-91 § 17.02, 10-22-91].

Attachment 6 

94



95



96



City of Willows 

Resolution 19-2024 

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF WILLOWS, STATE OF CALIFORNIA, MODIFYING 

RESOLUTION 32-2017'5 DISTANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR RETAIL/DISPENSARY CANNABIS BUSINESSES 

WHEREAS, on November 28, 2017 the City Council of the City of Willows enacted "An 

Ordinance of the City Council of the City of Willows Repealing Willows Municipal Code Chapter 9.20 

("Medical Marijuana11

), Adopting New Chapter 9.20 ("Cannabis11

), Repealing Chapter 8.10.010 

("Definitions11

), Adopting New Chapter 8.10.010, and Amending Chapter 8.10 ("Nuisance11

) to Regulate 

Cannabis, Use, Cultivation, Sales, and Other Cannabis Activities in the City of Willows11 (hereafter the 

"Cannabis Ordinance11

); and 

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Willows, pursuant to Chapter 9.20.070 of the Cannabis 

Ordinance has authorized the establishment of retail and dispensary businesses selling both medical 

and non-medical cannabis within the City of Willows; and 

WHEREAS, Chapter 9.20.070 of the Cannabis Ordinance requires the City Council to adopt a 

resolution establishing the maximum number of Retail/Dispensary Cannabis Business licenses that may 

be issued within the City of Willows in order to prevent excessive concentrations of such businesses, 

and to set other special conditions that may be necessary and appropriate for the regulation of such 

businesses; and 

WHEREAS, The City Council of the City of Willows approved Resolution 32-2017, which 

established that no such Retail/Dispensary Cannabis License shall be issued for any business location, 

and no such license holder may conduct business in any location, nearer than one thousand (1,000) 

feet to any church, elementary school, middle school, high school, licensed daycare or preschool 

facility, playground or parks; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF WILLOWS AS 

FOLLOWS: 

1. That no such Retail/Dispensary Cannabis License shall be issued for any business location,

and no such license holder may conduct business in any location, nearer than one thousand

(1,000) feet linear radius measured from property line to property line of a school and;

2. This Resolution supersedes the following provision of Resolution 32-2017 112. That no such

Retail/Dispensary Cannabis License shall be issued for any business location and no such

license holder may conduct business in any location nearer than one thousand (1,000} feet

to any church, elementary school, middle school, high school, licensed daycare or preschool

facility, playground or parks"; and

Attachment 7 

97



98



Note: 
The information illustrated in this map 
was derived from publicly-available 
GIS data. LACO Associates cannot 
guarantee the accuracy of the data.

0 2,0001,000 Feet

VILLA AVENUE HEAD START

Schools
600 Foot Setback

REUSE OF DOCUMENTS: This document and the ideas and design incorporated herein, as an instrument of professional service, is the property of  LACO Associates and shall not be reused in whole or part for any other project 
without LACO Associates express written authorization.

City of Willows Ordinance Review
City of Willows
City of Willows, CA
600 Foot Setbacks From Schools

MCH
BET

9/03/2024
1

10560.00

FIGURE

JOB NO.

BY

CHECK

DATE

PROJECT 

CLIENT 

LOCATION

WILLOWS INTERMEDIATE

WALDEN ACADEMY

MURDOCK ELEMENTARY

WILLOWS HIGH

JOYFUL NOISE
PRESCHOOL

WILLOWS COMMUNITY HIGH

BLESSED BEGINNINGS
CHRISTIAN PRESCHOOL

GLENN COUNTY ROP
GLENN COUNTY SPECIAL EDUCATION

Attachment 8 

99



Home 

FORMATIO 

Bill Information California Law Publications Other Resources My Subscriptions My Favorites 

Code: I Select Code vi Section: 11362.768 

!J.� < < Previous Next > > cross-reference chaRtered bills 

HEALTH AND SAFETY CODE -HSC 

PDF I Add To MY. Favorites 

Search Phrase: 

J Search I <D

I Highlight I 

DIVISION 10. UNIFORM CONTROLLED SUBSTANCES ACT [11000 -11651] ( Division 10 repealed and added by Stats.

1972, Ch. 1407.) 

CHAPTER 6. Offenses and Penalties [11350 -11392] ( Chapter 6 added by Stats. 1972, Ch. 1407.)

ARTICLE 2.5. Medical Marijuana Program [11362.7 -11362.85] ( Article 2.5 added by Stats. 2003, Ch. 875, Sec. 2.)

11362.768. (a) This section shall apply to individuals specified in subdivision (b) of Section 11362. 765.

(b) No medicinal cannabis cooperative, collective, dispensary, operator, establishment, or provider who possesses,

cultivates, or distributes medicinal cannabis pursuant to this article shall be located within a 600-foot radius of a

school.

(c) The distance specified in this section shall be the horizontal distance measured in a straight line from the

property line of the school to the closest property line of the lot on which the medicinal cannabis cooperative,

collective, dispensary, operator, establishment, or provider is to be located without regard to intervening structures.

(d) This section shall not apply to a medicinal cannabis cooperative, collective, dispensary, operator, establishment,

or provider that is also a licensed residential medical or elder care facility.

(e) This section shall apply only to a medicinal cannabis cooperative, collective, dispensary, operator,

establishment, or provider that is authorized by law to possess, cultivate, or distribute medicinal cannabis and that

has a storefront or mobile retail outlet which ordinarily requires a local business license.

(f) Nothing in this section shall prohibit a city, county, or city and county from adopting ordinances or policies that

further restrict the location or establishment of a medicinal cannabis cooperative, collective, dispensary, operator,

establishment, or provider.

(g) This section does not preempt local ordinances, adopted prior to January 1, 2011, that regulate the location or 

establishment of a medicinal cannabis cooperative, collective, dispensary, operator, establishment, or provider.

(h) For the purposes of this section, "school" means any public or private school providing instruction in

kindergarten or any of grades 1 to 12, inclusive, but does not include any private school in which education is

primarily conducted in private homes.

(Amended by Stats. 2017, Ch. 27, Sec. 138. (SB 94) Effective June 27, 2017.) 

Attachment 9 

100



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

COMMENTS AND 
REPORTS 

101


	9-10-2024 Agenda Face
	Recommended Action: Approve the August 27, 2024, meeting minutes.
	Contact: Amos Hoover, City Clerk, ahoover@cityofwillows.org
	8. DISCUSSION & ACTION CALENDAR
	All matters in this section of the agenda are discussed and will be acted on individually. Individuals wishing to      address the City Council concerning any of these items are invited to make oral comments of up to three minutes at this time. Please...

	Ceremonial Matters
	Patriot Day Proclamation
	NATIONAL POW MIA RECOGNITION DAY
	Library Card Sign Up Month Proclamation edit
	Presentation & Discussion
	Public Comment & Consent Calendar Forum
	Check Register September 10, 2024
	8-27-2024 Minutes
	Action: Approved the August 13, 2024, meeting minutes.

	Discussion & Action Calendar
	Staff Report - 2024 RFC
	XX-2024 Rural Fire Capacity Grant Acceptance
	RFC Acceptance 2024 Resolution for CAL FIRE
	1. Staff Report - Dispensary Zoning and Setback
	At the May 28, 2024, City Council meeting, the Council directed staff to seek the Planning Commission’s recommendation regarding potential changes to the zoning for retail cannabis businesses and return to the Council with those recommendations. At th...
	At the May 28, 2024, City Council meeting, a Resolution #19-2024 (Attachment 7) was adopted to remove all setback requirements from churches, licensed daycares, playgrounds, and parks but retained a 1,000-foot setback requirement from schools (e.g., p...
	At the July 17, 2024, Planning Commission meeting staff presented this information and requested direction whether to modify the zoning in which a retail cannabis business may operate with a Conditional Use Permit (CUP). The Planning Commission electe...

	Attachment 1- 1000 ft. Setback
	Attachment 2- Ordinance-736-2017
	Attachment 3- State Cannabis Regulations
	Attachment 4- Reso 32-2017
	Attachment 5- Ordinance 738-2018 GC Mixed Zone
	Attachment 6- Ordinance 739-2018 HC Zone
	Attachment 7- Reso 19-2024
	Attachment 8- 600 ft. Setback
	Attachment 9- California HSC 600 Ft. Requirement
	Comments & Reports
	ADPE029.tmp
	Recommended Action: Approve the August 27, 2024, meeting minutes.
	Contact: Amos Hoover, City Clerk, ahoover@cityofwillows.org
	8. DISCUSSION & ACTION CALENDAR
	All matters in this section of the agenda are discussed and will be acted on individually. Individuals wishing to      address the City Council concerning any of these items are invited to make oral comments of up to three minutes at this time. Please...

	ADP6F3F.tmp
	Recommended Action: Approve the August 27, 2024, meeting minutes.
	Contact: Amos Hoover, City Clerk, ahoover@cityofwillows.org
	8. DISCUSSION & ACTION CALENDAR
	All matters in this section of the agenda are discussed and will be acted on individually. Individuals wishing to      address the City Council concerning any of these items are invited to make oral comments of up to three minutes at this time. Please...




